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Foreword 

Local Bodies are important building blocks of our Indian Government. They 
deliver public services and strengthen the Infrastructure in the area under 
their jurisdiction as per the expectations of citizens and plans of the 
Government. Local Bodies are also entrusted the task to manage public 
funds generated from citizens in an effective and efficient manner. Therefore, 
there is a need of timely, high quality, and decision-useful financial 
information that require enhanced public financial reporting.  

In this context, it is an essential step to review and relook at financial 
reporting practices being followed by Local Bodies in the country. ICAI, as a 
partner in nation building, has also been making relentless efforts to 
prescribe and support in implementation of high quality accrual based 
Accounting Framework for Local Bodies in India (i.e., Accounting Standards 
for Local Bodies) that is at par with the Internationally Accepted Accounting 
and Financial Reporting Standards by all levels of Governments. These 
Standards also take into account India’s unique governance and 
demographic features. I believe that accrual based accounting framework 
would definitely add value and improve the quality of existing financial 
reporting practices at the level of Local Bodies. 

I am glad to note that for the ease of various stakeholders and users, 
Compendium of Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (ASLBs) Part II is 
being issued that contains ASLBs issued by the ICAI subsequent to 2015. 
ASLBs issued by the Council of the ICAI, are recommendatory in nature in 
the initial years for use by the Local Bodies and will be mandatory for Local 
Bodies in a State from the date specified in this regard by the State 
Government concerned.  

I gratefully acknowledge the efforts of all experts involved in the formulation 
of ASLBs at relevant times. I am also grateful to various regulators, 
municipalities and other bodies, our members, in supporting the technical 
activities of the Institute and in providing invaluable inputs/suggestions in the 
process of formulation of ASLBs. 

I would also like to congratulate CA. Dhiraj Kumar Khandelwal, Chairman, 
CPF&ASLB, CA. Sanjeev Kumar Singhal, Vice-Chairman, CPF&ASLB and 



 

other members of the Committee, who are contributing immensely in 
achieving the desired objectives and targets with regard to formulation and 
implementation of ASLBs.  

I firmly believe that the Compendium of ASLBs, Part II, would be immensely 
useful to all concerned. 

 

New Delhi CA. Prafulla P. Chhajed 

June 28, 2019 President, ICAI 
 



Preface 

Improved public financial management and accountability environment is 
vital to better governance, performance and provision of better services to 
the citizens. It is worth appreciating that the attempts are being made by the 
Government of India to improve Financial Management and Financial 
Reporting at Government level including Local-Self-Government.  

Various Local Bodies have been adopting accrual system of accounting to 
grab performance linked grants or because of the mandate from the Supreme 
Court to do so. However, there is a need to further step up these reforms so 
that the adoption of accrual accounting is motivated not only because of the 
aforesaid mandate but also because this brings great value to the financial 
statements of Local Bodies as it enable proper recording of assets, liabilities, 
revenue and expenses, and thereby enhances the accountability, 
transparency and comparability in their financial reporting. These accounting 
reforms are intended to provide relevant financial information to various 
users and stakeholders in a timely and organised manner. 

This stepping up requires that these bodies are provided with relevant 
accrual accounting guidance/framework for adoption. Therefore, ICAI have 
been issuing Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (ASLBs) since 2005, 
which are being formulated as extension of National Municipal Accounting 
Manual (NMAM), as these Standards prescribe the accounting principles in 
more detailed manner. ASLBs are also being issued on a few important 
subjects that are not dealt in NMAM. ASLBs are high quality financial 
reporting Standards that are based on globally accepted Government/ Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (i.e., International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards). Keeping in view the peculiarities in operations of Local Bodies in 
India, the carve outs are also made. The views of various experts, 
stakeholders, invitees from relevant Government Departments are sought 
while formulating these Standards to make them best suited to Indian 
conditions. The ASLBs are also being formulated in a dynamic environment 
and keep on evolving with changing economic environment and accounting 
developments.  

The above initiatives undertaken by the ICAI during 2005 through its 
erstwhile Committee on Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (CASLB) are 



 

being carried forward by a new Committee namely Committee on Public 
Finance and Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (CPF&ASLB) constituted 
during current council year. Awareness of the new financial reporting regime 
and education/training on the technical aspects is also very critical and 
central to the adoption of the new system. Therefore, CPF&ASLB is also 
striving in this direction and taking some critical steps on this path. The 
attempts are also being made by the Committee jointly with relevant 
stakeholders to bring in place the system for implementation of the new 
regime. Implementation of these ASLBs by the Local Bodies would be a 
monumental step in their accounting history and I believe that these ASLBs 
when implemented would transform the reporting practices of Local Bodies, 
in the best interest of the society at large, and will augment more resources 
to Local Bodies.  

We acknowledge that for the benefit of various stakeholders and users, a 
consolidated manual of Standards should be in place. Therefore, a 
Compendium of ASLBs was issued by the erstwhile CASLB in 2015 
containing: 

• Preface to the ASLBs;  

• ASLB on ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’;  

• ASLB on ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors’;  

• ASLB on ‘Borrowing Costs’;  

• ASLB on ‘Revenue from Exchange Transactions’;  

• ASLB on ‘Construction Contracts’;  

• ASLB on ‘Inventories’; 

• ASLB on ‘Events after the Reporting Date’;  

• ASLB on ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’;  

• ASLB on ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’; 

• ASLB on ‘Intangible Assets’; and 

• Cash based ASLB on ‘Financial Reporting under Cash Basis 
of Accounting’ to facilitate the Local Bodies to convert their accounts 
from cash to accrual basis of accounting.  



It gives me immense pleasure to present the Compendium of ASLBs,  
Part – II, during my tenor as the Chairman of the CPF&ASLB for the current 
Council Year 2019-20. This publication contains four ASLBs issued 
subsequent to issuance of the first part of Compendium. This publication will 
provide guidance to the Local Bodies on ‘Presentation of Budget Information 
in Financial Statements’, ‘Segment Reporting’, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ and 
‘Related Party Disclosures’. 

I gratefully acknowledge the contribution being made by CA. Sanjeev Kumar 
Singhal, Vice-Chairman, CPF&ASLB, for taking the lead in fast-tracking the 
formulation of ASLBs and other initiatives of the Committee. I am also 
thankful to Past Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and Members of erstwhile CASLB, 
who have contributed in formulation of ASLBs at relevant times. I am also 
grateful to various experts, regulators and municipalities, for contributing in 
the Standard formulation and various activities of the Committee. I also place 
on record the efforts put in by experts/ officers from Technical Directorate, 
ICAI, involved in formulation of ASLBs at relevant times and for bringing this 
publication.  

I believe that the accounting guidance provided in this publication would be 
immensely helpful to stakeholders, users as well as others concerned. 

 CA. Dhiraj Kumar Khandelwal 
 Chairman 
New Delhi Committee on Public Finance and Accounting 
June 27, 2019 Standards for Local Bodies 
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Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 2 
Cash Flow Statements 

(This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and 
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate 
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context 
of its objective and the Preface to the Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies1.) 

The Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 2, ‘Cash Flow 
Statements’, issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India, will be recommendatory in nature in the initial years for use by the 
Local Bodies. This Standard will be mandatory for Local Bodies in a State 
from the date specified in this regard by the State Government concerned2. 

Objective 
The cash flow statement identifies (a) the sources of cash inflows, (b) the 
items on which cash was expended during the reporting period, and (c) the 
cash balance as at the reporting date. Information about the cash flows of 
an entity is useful in providing users of financial statements with information 
for both accountability and decision-making purposes. Cash flow information 
allows users to ascertain how an entity raised the cash it required to fund its 
activities, and the manner in which that cash was used. In making and 
evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources, such as the 
sustainability of the entity’s activities, users require an understanding of the 
timing and certainty of cash flows. The objective of this Standard is to 
require the provision of information about the historical changes in cash and 
cash equivalents of an entity by means of a cash flow statement that 
classifies cash flows during the period from operating, investing and 
financing activities. 

 

                                                           
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.2 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’, according to which Accounting Standards are intended 
to apply only to items which are material. 
2 Reference may be made to the paragraph 7.1 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’ providing the discussion on the compliance with the 
Accounting Standards for Local Bodies. 
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Scope 
1. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 

the accrual basis of accounting should prepare a cash flow 
statement in accordance with the requirements of this Standard 
and should present it as an integral part of its financial 
statements for each period for which financial statements are 
presented.  

2. Information about cash flows may be useful to users of an entity’s 
financial statements in (a) assessing the entity’s cash flows, (b) 
assessing the entity’s compliance with legislation and regulations 
(including authorised budgets where appropriate), and (c) making 
decisions about whether to provide resources to, or enter into 
transactions with, an entity. They are generally interested in how the 
entity generates and uses cash and cash equivalents. This is the case 
regardless of the nature of the entity’s activities. Entities need cash for 
essentially the same reasons, however different their principal revenue 
producing activities might be. They need cash to pay for the goods and 
services they consume, to meet ongoing debt servicing costs, and, in 
some cases, to reduce levels of debt. Accordingly, this Standard 
requires all entities to present a cash flow statement.  

3. This Standard applies to all entities that are described as the 
Local Bodies in the Preface to Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies3.  

4. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Benefits of Cash Flow Information 
5. Information about the cash flows of an entity is useful in assisting 

users to predict (a) the future cash requirements of the entity, (b) its 
ability to generate cash flows in the future, and (c) its ability to fund 
changes in the scope and nature of its activities. A cash flow 
statement also provides a means by which an entity can discharge its 
accountability for cash inflows and cash outflows during the reporting 
period.  

                                                           
3 Refer paragraph 1.3 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting Standards for Local Bodies’. 
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6. A cash flow statement, when used in conjunction with other financial 
statements, provides information that enables users to evaluate the 
changes in net assets/equity of an entity, its financial structure 
(including its liquidity and solvency), and its ability to affect the 
amount and timing of cash flows in order to adapt to changing 
circumstances and opportunities. It also enhances the comparability 
of the reporting of operating performance by different entities, 
because it eliminates the effects of using different accounting 
treatments for the same transactions and other events.  

7. Historical cash flow information is often used as an indicator of the 
amount, timing, and certainty of future cash flows. It is also useful in 
checking the accuracy of past assessments of future cash flows.  

Definitions 
8. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings 

specified:  
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  
Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash 
equivalents.  
Control: An entity controls another entity when the entity is 
exposed, or has rights, to variable benefits from its involvement 
with the other entity and has the ability to affect the nature and 
amount of those benefits through its power over the other entity.  
Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size 
and composition of the contributed capital and borrowings of the 
entity.  
Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term 
assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents.  
Operating activities are the activities of the entity that are not 
investing or financing activities.  
Reporting date means the date of the last day of the reporting 
period to which the financial statements relate.  
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Terms defined in other ASLBs are used in this Standard with the 
same meaning as in those other Standards. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
9. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash 

commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For an 
investment to qualify as a cash equivalent, it must be readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and be subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Therefore, an investment 
normally qualifies as a cash equivalent only when it has a short 
maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of acquisition.  

10. Bank borrowings are generally considered to be financing activities. 
However, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand form an 
integral part of an entity’s cash management. In these circumstances, 
bank overdrafts are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents. A characteristic of such banking arrangements is that the 
bank balance often fluctuates from being positive to overdrawn.  

11. Cash flows exclude movements between items that constitute cash or 
cash equivalents, because these components are part of the cash 
management of an entity rather than part of its operating, investing, 
and financing activities. Cash management includes the investment of 
excess cash in cash equivalents.  

Economic Entity 
12. The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for 

financial reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the 
controlling entity and any controlled entities.  

13. Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include 
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity, and group. 

14. An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and 
commercial objectives. For example, a Local Body XYZ (controlling 
entity) may control an entity ABC (controlled entity) that provides 
services of health care for a nominal charge, as well as another entity 
PQR (controlled entity) that provides transport services on a 
commercial basis. The group of entities comprising Local Body XYZ 
and the controlled entities, viz., ABC and PQR, is the economic entity.  



Cash Flow Statements 

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential 
15. Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets 

that are used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an 
entity’s objectives, but which do not directly generate net cash inflows, 
are often described as embodying service potential. Assets that are 
used to generate net cash inflows are often described as embodying 
future economic benefits. To encompass all the purposes to which 
assets may be put, this Standard uses the term “future economic 
benefits or service potential” to describe the essential characteristic of 
assets. 

16. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Net Assets/Equity 
17. Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the 

residual measure in the balance sheet (assets less liabilities). Net 
assets/equity may be positive or negative.  

Presentation of a Cash Flow Statement 
18. The cash flow statement should report cash flows during the 

period classified by operating, investing, and financing activities.  

19. An entity presents its cash flows from operating, investing, and 
financing activities in a manner that is most appropriate to its activities. 
Classification by activity provides information that allows users to 
assess the impact of those activities on the financial position of the 
entity, and the amount of its cash and cash equivalents. This 
information may also be used to evaluate the relationships among 
those activities.  

20. A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified 
differently. For example, when the cash repayment of a loan includes 
both interest and capital, the interest element may be classified as an 
operating activity and the capital element classified as a financing 
activity. 

Operating Activities 
21. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key 

indicator of the extent to which the operations of the entity are funded:  
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(a) By way of taxes (directly and indirectly); or  

(b) From the recipients of goods and services provided by the 
entity.  

The amount of the net cash flows also assists in showing the ability of 
the entity to maintain its operating capability, repay obligations and 
make new investments, without recourse to external sources of 
financing. The consolidated operating cash flows of an economic entity 
provide an indication of the extent to which a Local Body has financed 
its current activities through taxation and charges. Information about 
the specific components of historical operating cash flows is useful, in 
conjunction with other information, in forecasting future operating cash 
flows. 

22. Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the 
principal cash-generating activities of the entity. Examples of cash 
flows from operating activities are:  

(a) Cash receipts from taxes, levies, and fines;  

(b) Cash receipts from charges for goods and services provided by 
the entity;  

(c) Cash receipts from grants related to revenue/ general grants 
(excluding grants which are covered under financing activities, 
i.e., grants in the nature of contribution to the corpus/ municipal 
fund of Local Body by the government and grants related to 
assets) or transfers and other appropriations or other budget 
authority made by Central/ State Government or other entities;  

(d) Cash receipts from rentals, royalties, fees, commissions, and 
other revenue;  

(e) Cash payments to other entities to finance their operations (not 
including loans);  

(f) Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;  

(g) Cash payments to and on behalf of employees;  

(h) [Refer to Appendix 1]; 

(i) Cash payments of local property taxes, income taxes (where 
appropriate) in relation to operating activities;  
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(j) Cash receipts or payments from discontinuing operations;  
(k) Cash receipts or payments in relation to litigation settlements; 

and 
(l) Cash payment of sitting fee/ honorarium to elected members. 
Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise 
to a gain or loss that is included in surplus or deficit. The cash flows 
relating to such transactions are cash flows from investing activities. 

23. [Refer to Appendix 1]  
24. In some cases, Local Bodies will appropriate or authorise funds to 

entities to finance the operations of an entity, and no clear distinction 
is made for the disposition of those funds between current activities, 
capital works, and contributed capital. Where an entity is unable to 
separately identify appropriations or budgetary authorisations into 
current activities, capital works, and contributed capital, the 
appropriation or budget authorisation should be classified as cash 
flows from operations, and this fact should be disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements.  

Investing Activities 
25. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities 

is important because the cash flows represent the extent to which cash 
outflows have been made for resources that are intended to contribute 
to the entity’s future service delivery. Only cash outflows that result in 
a recognised asset in the balance sheet are eligible for classification 
as investing activities. Examples of cash flows arising from investing 
activities are:  
(a) Cash payments to acquire property, plant, and equipment, 

intangibles, and other long-term assets. These payments 
include those relating to capitalised development costs and self-
constructed property, plant, and equipment; 

(b) Cash receipts from sales of property, plant, and equipment, 
intangibles, and other long-term assets;  

(c) Cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other 
entities and interests in joint ventures (other than payments for 
those instruments considered to be cash equivalents or those 
held for dealing or trading purposes);  
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(d) Cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other 
entities and interests in joint ventures (other than receipts for 
those instruments considered to be cash equivalents); 

(e) Cash advances and loans made to other parties/ employees;  

(f) Cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made 
to other parties/ employees;  

(g) Cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option 
contracts, and swap contracts;  

(h) Cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option 
contracts, and swap contracts; and 

(i) Receipt of any interest and dividend on investments. 

Financing Activities 
26. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities 

is important, because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash 
flows by providers of capital to the entity. Examples of cash flows 
arising from financing activities are:  
(a) Cash proceeds from issuing debentures, loans, bonds, 

mortgages, and other short or long-term borrowings; 

(b) Cash receipts from contributions made by the Central/ State 
Government towards the corpus of Local Bodies;  

(c) Cash receipts from grants related to fixed assets; 

(d) Cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and  

(e) Cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding 
liability relating to a finance lease. 

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
27. An entity should report cash flows from operating activities using 

either:  
(a) The direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash 

receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed; or  

(b) The indirect method, whereby surplus or deficit is adjusted 
for the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, any 
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deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash 
receipts or payments, and items of revenue or expense 
associated with investing or financing cash flows.  

28. Entities are encouraged to report cash flows from operating activities 
using the direct method. The direct method provides information that 
(a) may be useful in estimating future cash flows, and (b) not available 
under the indirect method. Under the direct method, information about 
major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments may be 
obtained either:  
(a) From the accounting records of the entity; or  

(b) By adjusting operating revenues, operating expenses, and other 
items in the income and expenditure statement for: 

(i) Changes during the period in inventories and operating 
receivables and payables;  

(ii) Other non-cash items; and  

(iii) Other items for which the cash effects are investing or 
financing cash flows. 

29. Entities reporting cash flows from operating activities using the direct 
method are also encouraged to provide a reconciliation of the 
surplus/deficit from ordinary activities with the net cash flow from 
operating activities. This reconciliation may be provided as part of the 
cash flow statement or in the notes to the financial statements. 

30. Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities 
is determined by adjusting surplus or deficit from ordinary activities for 
the effects of:  
(a) Changes during the period in inventories and operating 

receivables and payables;  

(b) Non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions and unrealised 
foreign currency gains and losses; and  

(c) All other items for which the cash effects are investing or 
financing cash flows.  

(d) [Deleted]  
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Reporting Cash Flows from Investing and 
Financing Activities 
31. An entity should report separately major classes of gross cash 

receipts and gross cash payments arising from investing and 
financing activities, except to the extent that cash flows 
described in paragraphs 32 and 35 are reported on a net basis. 

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis 
32. Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing, or 

financing activities may be reported on a net basis:  
(a) Cash receipts collected and payments made on behalf of 

customers, taxpayers, or beneficiaries when the cash flows 
reflect the activities of the other party rather than those of 
the entity; and  

(b) Cash receipts and payments for items in which the cash 
receipts and related payments are in quick succession, the 
amounts are large, and the maturities are short.  

33. Paragraph 32(a) refers only to transactions where the resulting cash 
balances are controlled by the reporting entity. Examples of such cash 
receipts and payments include:  
(a) The collection of taxes by Local Body for State Government or 

another entity not including taxes collected by a Local Body for 
its own use as part of a tax-sharing arrangement;  

(b) [Refer to Appendix 1];  
(c) [Refer to Appendix 1];  
(d) Rents collected on behalf of, and paid over to, the owners of 

properties; and 
(e) Transfers to third parties consistent with legislation or other 

government authority.  
34. Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 

32(b) are advances made for, and the repayment of:  
(a) The purchase and sale of investments; and  
(b) Other short-term borrowings, for example, those that have a 

maturity period of three months or less.  
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35.  [Refer to Appendix 1]  

Foreign Currency Cash Flows 
36. Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency should 

be recorded in an entity’s functional currency by applying to the 
foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the 
functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
cash flow.  

37. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
38. Cash flows denominated in a foreign currency are reported in a 

manner consistent with ASLB 4, ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates’ 4 . This permits the use of an exchange rate that 
approximates the actual rate. For example, a weighted average 
exchange rate for a period may be used for recording foreign currency 
transactions.  

39. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates are not cash flows. However, the effect of exchange 
rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held or due in a foreign 
currency is reported in the cash flow statement in order to reconcile 
cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. 
This amount is presented separately from cash flows from operating, 
investing, and financing activities, and includes the differences, if any, 
if those cash flows had been reported at end of period exchange rates.  

Interest and Dividends or Similar Distributions 
40. Cash flows from receipt of interest and dividends or similar 

distributions and payment of interest should be disclosed 
separately. Cash flow arising from interest paid on bonds, 
debentures, etc., should be classified as cash flow from financing 
activities while interest and dividend received should be 
classified as cash flow from investing activities.  

41. The total amount of interest paid during a period is disclosed in the 
cash flow statement, whether it has been recognised as an expense in 
the income and expenditure statement or capitalised in accordance 
with the allowed alternative treatment in ASLB 5, ‘Borrowing Costs’.  

                                                           
4 This ASLB is yet to be formulated. 
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42. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
43. [Refer to Appendix 1]  

Taxes on income arising from goods or services 
supplied by a Local Body outside its own 
jurisdictional area5 
44. Cash flows arising from taxes on income of a Local Body arising 

from goods or services supplied by it outside its own 
jurisdictional area should be separately disclosed and should be 
classified as cash flows from operating activities, unless they can 
be specifically identified with financing and investing activities. 

45. Local Bodies are generally exempt from taxes on income. However, 
taxes are levied on income of Local Bodies arising from goods or 
services supplied by them outside their jurisdictional area.  

46. [Refer to Appendix 1]  

Investments in Controlled Entities, Associates 
and Joint Ventures 
47. When accounting for an investment in an associate, a joint venture or 

a controlled entity, for reporting cash flows in this regard, the guidance 
can be found in the ASLBs on the relevant subjects6.  

48. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Acquisitions and Disposals of Controlled Entities 
and Other Operating Units 
49. The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from 

disposals of controlled entities or other operating units should be 
presented separately and classified as investing activities.  

50. An entity should disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both 
acquisitions and disposals of controlled entities or other 
operating units during the period, each of the following:  

                                                           
5 These services do not cover supply of water or electricity. For details refer Section 
10 (20) of the Income Tax Act, 1961.  
6  The ASLBs on these subjects are under formulation. Until the ASLBs on the 
subjects are formulated, the guidance can be found in the corresponding existing 
Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI.  
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(a) The total purchase or disposal consideration7;  

(b) The portion of the purchase or disposal consideration 
discharged by means of cash and cash equivalents;  

(c) The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the controlled 
entity or operating unit acquired or disposed of; and  

(d) The amount of the assets and liabilities, other than cash or 
cash equivalents, recognised by the controlled entity or 
operating unit acquired or disposed of, summarised by 
each major category.  

50A. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

51. The separate presentation of the cash flow effects of acquisitions and 
disposals of controlled entities and other operating units as single line 
items, together with the separate disclosure of the amounts of assets 
and liabilities acquired or disposed of, helps to distinguish those cash 
flows from the cash flows arising from the other operating, investing 
and financing activities. The cash flow effects of disposals are not 
deducted from those acquisitions.  

52. The aggregate amount of the cash paid or received as purchase or 
sale consideration is reported in the cash flow statement net of cash 
and cash equivalents acquired or disposed of.  

52A. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

52B. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

53. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Non-cash Transactions 
54. Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use 

of cash or cash equivalents should be excluded from a cash flow 
statement. Such transactions should be disclosed elsewhere in 
the financial statements in a way that provides all the relevant 
information about these investing and financing activities.  

55. Many investing and financing activities do not have a direct impact on 
current cash flows, although they do affect the capital and asset 

                                                           
7 Purchase consideration may arise, if the entity acquired by the Local Body is a 
private entity.  
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structure of an entity. The exclusion of non-cash transactions from the 
cash flow statement is consistent with the objective of a cash flow 
statement, as these items do not involve cash flows in the current 
period. Examples of non-cash transactions are:  
(a) The acquisition of assets through the exchange of assets, the 

assumption of directly related liabilities, or by means of a 
finance lease; and  

(b) The conversion of debt/loans to grants in the nature of 
contribution to corpus/municipal fund of Local Body by the 
Government.  

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents 
56. An entity should disclose the components of cash and cash 

equivalents, and should present a reconciliation of the amounts 
in its cash flow statement with the equivalent items reported in 
the balance sheet.  

57. In view of the variety of cash management practices and banking 
arrangements and in order to comply with ASLB 1, an entity discloses 
the policy that it adopts in determining the composition of cash and 
cash equivalents.  

58. The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of 
cash and cash equivalents is reported in accordance with ASLB 3, 
‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’.  

Other Disclosures 
59. An entity should disclose, together with a commentary by 

management in the notes to the financial statements, the amount 
of significant cash and cash equivalent balances held by the 
entity that are not available for use by the economic entity.  

60. There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent 
balances held by an entity are not available for use by the economic 
entity. Examples include cash and cash equivalent balances held by a 
controlled entity that operates under legal restriction, when the 
balances are not available for general use by the controlling entity or 
other controlled entities. 

61. Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the 
financial position and liquidity of an entity. Disclosure of this 



Cash Flow Statements 

information, together with a description in the notes to the financial 
statements, is encouraged, and may include:  
(a) The amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be 

available for future operating activities and to settle capital 
commitments, indicating any restrictions on the use of these 
facilities;  

(b) [Deleted]; and 

(c) The amount and nature of restricted cash balances. 

62. Where appropriations or budget authorisations are prepared on a cash 
basis, the cash flow statement may assist users in understanding the 
relationship between the entity’s activities or programs and the Local 
Body’s budgetary information. (As indicated in ASLB 1 for comparison 
of actual and budgeted figures)  

63-64 [Refer to Appendix 1]  
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Illustrative Examples 
These examples accompany, but are not part of, ASLB 2. 

Cash Flow Statement  
Direct Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(a)) 

Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended 
December 31, 20X2 (In ` lakhs)  

 (in ` lakhs) 20X2  20X1 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Receipts    

Taxation X  X 

Sales of goods and services X  X 

Grants related to revenue/general grants X  X 

Interest received X  X 

Other receipts X  X 

Payments    

Employee costs (X)  (X) 

Superannuation (X)  (X) 

Suppliers (X)  (X) 

Interest paid (X)  (X) 

Other payments (X)  (X) 

Net cash flows from operating activities X  X 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of plant and equipment (X)  (X) 

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment X  X 

Proceeds from sale of investments X  X 

Net cash flows from investing activities (X)  (X) 
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Grants received from the Central Government/ State 
Governments for creation of specific fixed assets        
Proceeds from borrowings 

 
X 
X x 

 
X 
X 

Repayment of borrowings (X)  (X) 

Net cash flows from financing activities X  X 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents X  X 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period X  X 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period X  X 

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks, 
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents 
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following balance sheet 
amounts: 

(in ` lakhs) 20X2  20X1 

Cash on hand and balances with banks X  X 

Short-term investments X  X 

 X  X 

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be used on 
infrastructure projects. 

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment  

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant, and 
equipment with an aggregate cost of X, of which X was acquired by means 
of grants for creation of specific fixed assets received from the Central 
Government/ State Governments. Cash payments of X were made to 
purchase property, plant and equipment.  

(c) Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities to 
Surplus/(Deficit)  
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(in ` lakhs) 20X2 20X1 

Surplus/(deficit) X X 

Non-cash movements   

Depreciation X X 

Amortisation X X 

Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X 

Increase in payables X X 

Increase in borrowings X X 

Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X 

(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and 
equipment (X) (X) 

(Gains)/losses on sale of investments (X) (X) 

Increase in other current assets (X) (X) 

Increase in investments due to revaluation (X) (X) 

Increase in receivables (X) (X) 

   

Net cash flows from operating activities X X 

Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(b)) 

Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended December 
31, 20X2 (In ` lakhs) 

(in ` lakhs) 20X2 20X1 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Surplus/(deficit) X X 

Non-cash movements   

Depreciation X X 

Amortisation X X 

Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X 
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Increase in payables X X 

Increase in borrowings X X 

Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X 

(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and 
equipment (X) (X) 

(Gains)/losses on sale of investments (X) (X) 

Increase in other current assets (X) (X) 

Increase in investments due to revaluation (X) (X) 

Increase in receivables (X) (X) 

Net cash flows from operating activities X X 

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with 
banks, and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash 
equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise the 
following balance sheet amounts: 

(in ` lakhs) 20X2 20X1 

Cash on hand and balances with banks X X 

Short-term investments X X 

 X X 

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be 
used on infrastructure projects. 

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment  

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant, and 
equipment with an aggregate cost of X, of which X was acquired by 
means of capital grants by the Central Government/ State 
Governments. Cash payments of X were made to purchase property, 
plant and equipment.   
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Appendix 1 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local 
Bodies. The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major 
differences, if any, between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 2 
and the corresponding International Public Sector Accounting Standard 
(IPSAS) 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’. 

Comparison with IPSAS 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ 
1. Different terminologies have been used in the ASLB 2 as compared to 

corresponding IPSAS 2, e.g., terms ‘balance sheet’ and ‘income and 
expenditure statement’ have been used in place of ‘statement of 
financial position’ and ‘statement of financial performance’. 

2. The following paragraphs of IPSAS 2 have been deleted. In order to 
maintain consistency with the corresponding IPSAS 2, the paragraph 
numbers have been retained: 
(i) Paragraph 4 and 16 of IPSAS 2 provides that Government 

Business Enterprises (GBE) should use IFRSs, has been 
deleted, as it is not relevant for Local Bodies in India. 

(ii) Local Bodies in India do not deal in sale and purchase of 
securities in normal course of their operations. Therefore, 
provisions pertaining to it have been deleted. (deleted 
paragraph 23)  

(iii) Local Bodies in India are not engaged in the Insurance Business 
and Public Financial Institutions. Therefore, provisions 
pertaining to these have been deleted. (deleted paragraphs 
22(h), 28, 33(b), 35) 

(iv) Provisions relating to payment of dividends or similar 
distribution to owners, do not seem to be relevant in the context 
of Local Bodies in India. Therefore, the same have been 
deleted. (paragraphs 42-43 deleted) 

(v) Local bodies in India may not have a foreign controlled entity, 
therefore, the paragraphs pertaining to such entities have been 
deleted. (paragraph 37 deleted) 

(vi) Paragraph 46 as the taxes related guidance has already been 
covered in paragraphs 44-45.  
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(vii) Paragraph 48 of IPSAS 2 prescribing equity method to report 
cash flows in respect of investments in an associate or joint 
venture, has been deleted as ASLB on this subject is under 
formulation.  

(viii) Paragraphs 50A, 52A and 52B as these paragraphs prescribe 
the accounting method to be followed in case of consolidation 
on which ASLBs are yet to be formulated.  

(ix) Paragraph 53 as it may not be relevant for Local Bodies in India.  

(x) Paragraphs 63 - 64 pertaining to effective date have been 
deleted as the ASLB 2 would become mandatory for the Local 
Bodies in a State from the date specified by the State 
Government concerned. 

3. The following paragraphs of IPSAS 2 have been amended significantly 
to make the same more relevant in the context of Local Bodies in 
India: 

(i) Deleted the last line of paragraph 9 of IPSAS 2 that the equity 
investments are excluded from cash equivalents unless they 
are, in substance, cash equivalents. 

(ii) List line of paragraph 17 of IPSAS 2, other terms may be used 
in place of net assets/ equity, provided that their meaning is 
clear, has been removed. 

(iii) Reference to paragraph 83A of IPSAS 17, ‘Property, Plant and 
Equipment’ has been deleted from paragraph 22 of the ASLB 2 
because similar paragraph is not given in ASLB 17 which was 
prepared earlier in line with the then corresponding IPSAS.  

(iv) Requirements pertaining to the Income tax expenses have been 
modified in ASLB 2 as per the provisions of Income Tax Act, 
1961 applicable to Local Bodies in India. (refer paragraphs 
30(b), 44 – 45 of ASLB 2) 

(v) IPSAS 2 provides guidance for reporting cash flows, when 
accounting for investment in controlled entities, associates and 
joint ventures. However, ASLB 2 refers to the ASLBs on the 
relevant subjects for the guidance in this regard which are under 
preparation and until the same are issued, guidance to be drawn 
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from the existing Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI. 
(refer paragraph 47 of ASLB 2) 

4. Some examples of IPSAS 2 have been deleted/included in the ASLB 
2, and some examples have been modified in light of Indian 
conditions. (refer paragraphs 14, 22, 25, 26, 33, 38, 55(b) and 58)  

5. The following paragraphs appear as ‘Deleted’ in IPSAS 2. In order to 
maintain consistency with paragraph numbers of IPSAS 2, the 
paragraph numbers are retained in ASLB 2: 

(i) Paragraph 30 (d); and  

(ii) Paragraph 61 (b).  
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Appendix 2 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local 
Bodies. The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major 
differences, if any, between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 2 
and the existing Accounting Standard (AS) 3, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

Comparison with Existing AS 3, ‘Cash Flow Statements’  
1. ASLB 2 specifically included bank overdrafts which are repayable on 

demand as a part of cash and cash equivalents, whereas the existing 
AS 3 is silent on this aspect. (refer paragraph 10 of ASLB 2)  

2. ASLB 2 does not contain provisions for the Insurance Business and 
Public Financial Institution as Local Bodies in India are not engaged in 
Insurance Business and Public Financial Institutions. However, 
existing AS 3 contains such provisions. 

3. Existing AS 3 contains provisions relating to payment of dividends or 
similar distribution to owners. However, ASLB 2 does not provide for 
the same as these are not relevant in the context of Local Bodies. 

4. Existing AS 3 requires separate disclosure for the cash flows 
associated with extraordinary items classified as arising from 
operating, investing or financing activities. However, ASLB 2 does not 
provide for the same. 

5. In ASLB 2, the provisions in respect of income taxes have been 
modified as per Income Tax Act, 1961, applicable to Local Bodies in 
India. (refer paragraph 44 - 45 of ASLB 2)  

6. As compared to existing AS 3, ASLB 2 does not contain provisions for 
cash flows from a foreign controlled entity, as the same is not relevant 
for Local Bodies in India. 

7. As compared to the existing AS 3, ASLB 2 requires the entity to 
disclose the amount of cash and cash equivalents in the controlled 
entity or operating unit acquired or disposed of (refer paragraph 50 (c) 
& (d) of ASLB 2). ASLB 2 also requires to report the aggregate amount 
of the cash paid or received as purchase or sale consideration is 
reported in the cash flow statement net of cash and cash equivalents 
acquired or disposed of (refer paragraph 52 of ASLB 2). The existing 
AS 3 does not contain such requirements.  
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8. Different terminology is used in certain instances, e.g., the term 
‘Income and Expenditure Statement’ is used instead of ‘Profit and 
Loss Account’. 

9. ASLB 2 includes additional examples as compared to existing AS 3 
such as in case of examples of cash flows from operating activities 
given in ASLB 2.  
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This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and plain 
type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate the main 
principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context of its 
objective and the “Preface to Accounting Standards for Local Bodies”1. 
The Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (ASLB) 18 ‘Segment Reporting’, 
issued by the Council of the Institute of the Chartered Accountants of India, will 
be recommendatory in nature in the initial years for use by the Local Bodies. This 
Standard will be mandatory for Local Bodies in a State from the date specified in 
this regard by the State Government concerned2. 
The following is the text of the Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (ASLB) 18, 
’Segment Reporting’. 

Objective 
The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for reporting financial 
information by segments. The disclosure of this information will: 
(a) Help users of the financial statements to better understand the entity’s 

past performance, and to identify the resources allocated to support the 
major activities of the entity; and 

(b) Enhance the transparency of financial reporting and enable the entity to 
better discharge its accountability obligations. 

Scope 
1. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 

the accrual basis of accounting should apply this Standard in the 
presentation of segment information. 

2. This Standard applies to the entities described as Local Bodies in 
the Preface to Accounting Standards for Local Bodies3. 

                                                           
1 Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.2 of the ‘Preface to Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’, according to which Accounting Standards are intended 
to apply only to items which are material. 
2  Reference may be made to the paragraph 7.1 of the ‘Preface to Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’ providing the discussion on the compliance with the 
Accounting Standards for Local Bodies. 
3 Refer paragraph 1.3 of the ‘Preface to Accounting Standards for Local Bodies’. 
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3. [Refer to Appendix 1]  

4. This Standard should be applied in complete sets of published 
financial statements that comply with Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies (ASLBs). 

5. A complete set of financial statements includes a balance sheet (including 
statement of changes in net assets/equity annexed thereto), income and 
expenditure statement, cash flow statement and notes, as provided in 
ASLB 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. 

6. If both consolidated financial statements of a Local Body or other 
economic entity and the separate financial statements of the parent 
entity are presented together, segment information need be 
presented only on the basis of the consolidated financial statements. 

7. If the consolidated financial statements of the Local Body or other 
economic entity and the separate financial statements of the controlling 
entity are compiled and presented together in a single report, the report 
that contains the Local Body’s or other controlling entity’s consolidated 
financial statements needs to present segment information only for the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Definitions 
8. [Deleted] 

9. The following term is used in this Standard with the meaning 
specified: 

 A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities of an 
entity for which it is appropriate to separately report financial 
information for the purpose of (a) evaluating the entity’s past 
performance in achieving its objectives, and (b) making decisions 
about the future allocation of resources. 

 Terms defined in other Accounting Standards for Local Bodies are 
used in this Standard with the same meaning as in those Standards. 

10. Local Bodies and their agencies control significant public resources and 
operate to provide a wide variety of goods and services in differing 
geographical regions and in regions with differing socio-economic 
characteristics within its jurisdiction/territory. These entities are expected, 
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and in some cases formally required, to use those resources efficiently 
and effectively to achieve the entity’s objectives. Entity-wide and 
consolidated financial statements provide an overview of (a) the assets 
controlled and liabilities incurred by the reporting entity, (b) the cost of 
services provided, and (c) the taxation revenue, budget allocations and 
cost recoveries generated to fund the provision of those services. 
However, this aggregate information does not provide information about 
the specific operational objectives and major activities of the reporting 
entity and the resources devoted to, and costs of, those objectives and 
activities. 

11. In some cases, the activities of the entity within its territory/ jurisdiction 
may be broad, and encompass so wide a range of different geographical 
regions, or regions with different socio-economic characteristics, that it is 
necessary to report disaggregated financial and non-financial information 
about particular segments of the entity to provide relevant information for 
accountability and decision making purposes. 

Reporting by Segments 
12. An entity should identify its separate segments in accordance with 

the requirements of paragraph 9 of this Standard and should present 
information about those segments as required by paragraph 51- 75 
of this Standard. 

13. Under this Standard, Local Bodies will identify as separate segments 
each distinguishable activity or group of activities for which financial 
information should be reported for purposes of evaluating the past 
performance of the entity in achieving its objectives, and for making 
decisions about the allocation of resources by the entity. In addition to 
disclosure of the information required by paragraphs 51 to 75 of this 
Standard, entities are also encouraged to disclose additional information 
about reported segments as identified by this Standard or as considered 
necessary for accountability and decision making purposes. 

Reporting Structures 
14. In most cases, the major classifications of activities identified in budget 

documentation will reflect the segments for which information is 
reported to the governing body and the authorised senior official of the 
entity. In most cases, the segments reported to the governing body and the 
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authorised senior official will also reflect the segments reported in the 
financial statements. This is because the governing body and the authorised 
senior official will require information about segments to enable them to 
discharge their managerial responsibilities and to evaluate the performance 
of the entity in achieving its objectives in the past and to make decisions 
about the allocation of resources by the entity in the future. 

15. Determining the activities which should be grouped as separate segments 
and reported in the financial statements for accountability and decision-
making purposes involves judgment. In making that judgment, preparers 
of the financial statements will consider such matters as: 
(a) The objective of reporting financial information by segment as 

identified in paragraph 9 above; 
(b) The expectations of members of the community and their elected 

or appointed representatives regarding the key activities of the 
entity; 

(c) The qualitative characteristics of financial reporting as identified in 
the ‘Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial 
Reporting in Local Bodies 4’. They include the relevance, faithful 
representation, understandability, timeliness, comparability and 
verifiability over time of financial information that is reported about 
an entity’s different segments; and 

(d) Whether a particular segment structure reflects the basis on which 
the governing body and the authorised senior official require 
financial information to enable them to assess the past 
performance of the entity in achieving its objectives and to make 
decisions about the allocation of resources to achieve entity 
objectives in the future. 

16. At the Local Body level, financial information is often aggregated and 
reported in a manner which reflects, for example, major economic 
classifications of activities undertaken by local body, such as health, 
education, welfare, transportation, and water supply, etc. 

Service Segments and Geographical Segments 
17. The types of segments reported to the governing body and the authorised 

senior official of an entity are frequently referred to as “service segments” 
                                                           
4 The ‘Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting in Local 
Bodies’ is under formulation.  
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or “geographical segments”. These terms are used in this Standard with 
the following meanings: 

(a) A “service segment” refers to a distinguishable component of 
an entity that is engaged in providing related outputs or 
achieving particular operating objectives consistent with the 
overall mission of each entity; and 

(b) A “geographical segment” is a distinguishable component of 
an entity that is engaged in providing outputs or achieving 
particular operating objectives within a particular geographical 
area. 

18. The departments and agencies of Local Bodies are usually managed 
along service lines because this reflects the way in which major outputs 
are identified, their achievements monitored and their resource needs 
identified and budgeted. An example is an entity, which reports internally 
on the basis of service lines or service segments, whose organisational 
structure and internal reporting system reflects various services such as 
health, education, water supply, transportation, etc., as separate 
segments. This basis of segmentation may be adopted internally because 
the skills and facilities necessary to deliver the desired outputs and 
outcomes for each of these services are perceived to be different. In 
addition, key financial decisions faced by management include 
determination of the resources to allocate to each of those outputs or 
activities. In these cases, it is likely that reporting externally on the basis of 
service segments will also satisfy the requirements of this Standard. 

19. Factors that will be considered in determining whether outputs (goods 
and services) are related and should be grouped as segments for financial 
reporting purposes include: 

(a) The primary operating objectives of the entity and the goods, 
services and activities that relate to the achievement of each of 
those objectives and whether resources are allocated and 
budgeted on the basis of groups of goods and services; 

(b) The nature of the goods or services provided or activities 
undertaken; 

(c) The nature of the production process and/or service delivery and 
distribution process or mechanism; 
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(d) The type of consumer for the goods or services; 
(e) Whether this reflects the way in which the entity is managed and 

financial information is reported to senior management and the 
governing body, i.e., administrative reporting; and 

(f) If applicable, the nature of the regulatory environment, (for 
example, Urban Local Bodies or Rural Local Bodies). 

20. An entity may be organised and reported internally to the governing body 
and the authorised senior official on a regional basis — within its 
jurisdictional boundaries. Where this occurs the internal reporting system 
reflects a geographical segment structure. 

21. A geographical segment structure may be adopted where, for example, 
the organisational structure and internal reporting system of an entity is 
structured on the basis of regional outcomes within its jurisdictional 
boundaries because the key performance assessments and resource 
allocation decisions to be made by the governing body and the  
authorised senior official are determined by reference to regional 
achievements and regional needs. This structure may have been 
adopted to preserve regional autonomy of needs and delivery of various 
services, or because operating conditions or service delivery objectives 
are substantially different from one region to another. It may also have 
been adopted simply because management believes that an 
organisational structure based on regional devolution of responsibility 
better serves the objectives of the entity. In these cases, resource 
allocation decisions are initially made, and subsequently monitored, by 
the governing body and the authorised senior official on a regional basis. 
In these cases, it is likely that reporting information by geographical 
segments in the financial statements will also satisfy the requirements of 
this Standard. 

22. Factors that will be considered in determining whether financial 
information should be reported on a geographical basis include: 
(a) Similarity of economic, social and political conditions in different 

regions; 
(b) Relationships between the primary objectives of the entity and the 

different regions; 
(c) Whether service delivery characteristics and operating conditions 

differ in different regions; 
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(d) Whether this reflects the way in which the entity is managed and 
financial information is reported to the authorised senior officials 
and the governing body; and 

(e) Special needs, skills or risks associated with operations in a 
particular area. 

22A. In case the number of segments that are reportable in accordance with 
the requirements of this Standard increases above ten, it is considered 
that the practical limit has been reached and beyond this segment 
information may become too detailed. Therefore, the number of segments 
to be reported in accordance with this Standard should not increase above 
ten.  

Multiple Segmentation 
23. In some cases, an entity may report to the governing body and the 

authorised senior official segment revenue, expense, assets and liabilities 
on the basis of more than one segment structure, for example, by both 
service and geographical segments. Reporting on the basis of both 
service segments and geographical segments in the external financial 
statements often will provide useful information if the achievement of an 
entity’s objectives is strongly affected both by the different products and 
services it provides and the different geographical areas to which those 
goods and services are provided. In such cases, the segments may be 
reported separately or as a matrix. In addition, a primary and secondary 
segment reporting structure may be adopted with only limited disclosures 
made about secondary segments. 

23A. The entity’s internal reporting system to the governing body and the 
authorised senior official should govern whether its primary segment 
reporting format will be service segments or geographical segments. For 
example, i f  the organisational structure and internal reporting system of 
an entity is structured on the basis of regional outcomes within its 
jurisdictional boundaries then its internal reporting system reflects the 
geographical segment structure. In such case, geographical segment 
structure will become its primary segment reporting format and service 
segment structure will become its secondary segment reporting format.  

Reporting Structures Not Appropriate 
24. As noted above, in most cases the segments for which information is 
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reported internally to the governing body and the authorised senior official 
of the entity for the purpose of evaluating the entity’s past performance 
and for making decisions about the future allocation of resources, will 
reflect those identified in budget documentation and will also be adopted 
for external reporting purposes in accordance with the requirements of this 
Standard. However, in some cases an entity’s internal reporting to the 
governing body and the authorised senior official may be structured to 
aggregate and report on a basis which distinguishes revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities related to budget-dependent activities from those of 
activities that are not dependent on budget. Reporting segment 
information in the financial statements on the basis of only these 
segments is unlikely to meet the objectives specified for this Standard. 
This is because these segments are unlikely to provide information that is 
relevant to users about, for example, the performance of the entity in 
achieving its major operating objectives.  

25. In some cases, the disaggregated financial information reported to the 
governing body and the authorised senior official may not report 
expenses, revenues, assets and liabilities by service segment, 
geographical segment or by reference to other activities. Such reports 
may be constructed to reflect only expenditures by nature (for example, 
wages, rent, supplies and capital acquisitions) on a line item basis that is 
consistent with the budget appropriation or other funding or expenditure 
authorisation model applicable to the entity. This may occur where the 
purpose of financial reporting to the governing body and senior 
management is to evidence compliance with spending mandates rather 
than for purposes of evaluating the past performance of the entity’s major 
activities in achieving their objectives and for making decisions about the 
future allocation of resources. When internal reporting to the governing 
body and the authorised senior official is structured to report only 
compliance information, reporting externally on the same basis as the 
internal reporting to the governing body and the authorised senior official 
will not meet the requirement of this Standard. 

26. When an entity’s internal reporting structure does not reflect the 
requirements of this Standard, for external reporting purposes the entity 
will need to identify segments which satisfy the definition of a segment in 
paragraph 9 and disclose the information required by paragraphs 51-75. 
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Definitions of Segment Revenue, Expense, 
Assets, Liabilities and Accounting Policies 
27. The following additional terms are used in this Standard with the 

meanings specified: 

Segment revenue is revenue reported in the entity’s statement of 
income and expenditure that is directly attributable to a segment 
and the relevant portion of entity revenue that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis to a segment, whether from budget appropriations 
or similar, grants, transfers, fines, fees or sales or rendering services 
to external consumers or from transactions with other segments of 
the same entity. Segment revenue does not include: 

(a) Interest or dividend revenue, including interest earned on 
advances or loans to other segments, unless the segment’s 
operations are primarily of a financial nature; or 

(b) Gains on sales of investments or gains on extinguishment of 
debt unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a 
financial nature. 

Segment revenue includes an entity’s share of net surplus (deficit) of 
associates, joint ventures, or other investments accounted for under 
the equity method only if those items are included in consolidated 
or total entity revenue. 

Segment revenue includes a joint venturer’s share of the revenue 
of a jointly controlled entity that is accounted for by proportionate 
consolidation in accordance with ASLB 8, ‘Interests in Joint 
Venture’5. 

Segment expense is an expense resulting from the operating 
activities of a segment that is directly attributable to the segment and 
the relevant portion of an expense that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses relating to the 
provision of goods and services to external parties and expenses 
relating to transactions with other segments of the same entity. 
Segment expense does not include: 

                                                           
5 Accounting Standard for Local Bodies on ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ is under 
formulation. 
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(a) Interest, including interest incurred on advances or loans 
from other segments, unless the segment’s operations are 
primarily of a financial nature; 

(b) Losses on sales of investments or losses on extinguishment 
of debt unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a 
financial nature; 

(c) An entity’s share of net deficit or losses of associates, joint 
ventures, or other investments accounted for under the equity 
method; 

(d) Income tax expense, if applicable; or 

(e) General administrative expenses, head office expenses, and 
other expenses that arise at the entity level and relate to the 
entity as a whole. However, costs are sometimes incurred at 
the entity level on behalf of a segment. Such costs are 
segment expenses if they relate to the segment’s operating 
activities and they can be directly attributed or allocated to 
the segment on a reasonable basis. 

Segment expense includes a joint venturer’s share of the expenses 
of a jointly controlled entity that is accounted for by proportionate 
consolidation in accordance with ASLB 8, ‘Interests in Joint 
Ventures’. 

For a segment’s operations that are primarily of a financial nature, 
interest revenue and interest expense may be reported as a single 
net amount for segment reporting purposes only if those items are 
netted in the consolidated or entity financial statements. 

Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by a 
segment in its operating activities and that either are directly 
attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a 
reasonable basis. 

If a segment’s segment revenue includes interest or dividend 
revenue, its segment assets include the related receivables, loans, 
investments, or other revenue-producing assets. 

Segment assets include investments accounted for under the equity 
method only if the net surplus (deficit) from such investments is 
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included in segment revenue. Segment assets include a joint 
venturer’s share of the operating assets of a jointly controlled entity 
that is accounted for by proportionate consolidation in accordance 
with ASLB 8, ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’.  

Segment assets are determined after deducting related allowances 
that are reported as direct offsets in the entity’s balance sheet. 

Segment liabilities are those operating liabilities that result from the 
operating activities of a segment and that either are directly 
attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a 
reasonable basis. 

If a segment’s segment expense includes interest expense, its 
segment liabilities include the related interest-bearing liabilities. 

Segment liabilities include a joint venturer’s share of the liabilities 
of a jointly controlled entity that is accounted for by proportionate 
consolidation in accordance with ASLB 8, ‘Interests in Joint 
Venture’. 

Segment accounting policies are the accounting policies adopted for 
preparing and presenting the financial statements of the 
consolidated group or entity as well as those accounting policies 
that relate specifically to segment reporting. 

Attributing Items to Segments 
28. The definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, 

and segment liabilities include amounts of such items that are directly 
attributable to a segment and amounts of such items that can be 
allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis. 

29. An entity looks to its internal financial reporting system as the starting 
point for identifying those items that can be directly attributed, or 
reasonably allocated, to segments. That is, where segments used for 
internal reporting purposes are adopted, or form the basis of segments 
adopted, for general purpose financial statements, there is a presumption 
that amounts that have been identified with segments for internal 
financial reporting purposes are directly attributable or reasonably 
allocable to segments for the purpose of measuring the segment 
revenue, segment expense, segment assets and segment liabilities. 
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30. In some cases, a revenue, expense, asset or liability may have been 
allocated to segments for internal financial reporting purposes on a basis 
that is understood by entity management but that could be deemed 
subjective, arbitrary or difficult to understand by external users of 
financial statements. Such an allocation would not constitute a reasonable 
basis under the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, 
segment assets and segment liabilities in this Standard. Conversely, an 
entity may choose not to allocate some item of revenue, expense, asset 
or liability for internal financial reporting purposes, even though a 
reasonable basis for doing so exists. Such an item is allocated pursuant to 
the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets 
and segment liabilities in this Standard. 

31. Local Bodies can generally identify the costs of providing certain groups of 
goods and services or of undertaking certain activities and the assets that 
are necessary to facilitate those activities. This information is needed for 
planning and control purposes. However, in many cases the operations of 
Local bodies and its departments are funded by “block” appropriations, or 
appropriations on a “line item” basis reflecting the nature of the major 
classes of expenses or expenditures. These “block” or “line item” 
appropriations may not be related to specific service lines, functional 
activities or geographical regions. In some cases, it may not be possible 
to directly attribute revenue to a segment or to allocate it to a segment 
on a reasonable basis. Similarly, some assets, expenses and liabilities 
may not be able to be directly attributed, or allocated on a reasonable 
basis, to individual segments because they support a wide range of 
service delivery activities across a number of segments or are directly 
related to general administration activities which are not identified as a 
separate segment. The unattributed or unallocated revenue, expense, 
assets and liabilities would be reported as an unallocated amount in 
reconciling the segment disclosures to the aggregate entity revenue as 
required by paragraph 64 of this ASLB. 

32. Local Bodies and their departments may enter into arrangements with 
private sector entities for the delivery of goods and services or to conduct 
other activities. These arrangements may take the form of a joint venture 
or an investment in an associate which is accounted for by the equity 
method of accounting. Where this is the case, segment revenue will 
include the segment’s share of the equity accounted net surplus (deficit), 
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where the equity accounted surplus (deficit) is included in entity revenue 
and it can be directly attributed or reliably allocated to the segment on a 
reasonable basis. In similar circumstances, segment revenue and 
segment expense will include the segment’s share of revenue and 
expense of a jointly controlled entity which is accounted for by 
proportionate consolidation. 

Segment Assets, Liabilities, Revenue and Expense 
33. Examples of segment assets include current assets that are used in the 

operating activities of the segment; property, plant and equipment; assets 
that are the subject of finance leases; and intangible assets. If a 
particular item of depreciation or amortisation is included in segment 
expense, the related asset is also included in segment assets. Segment 
assets do not include assets used for general entity or head office 
purposes, for example: 

(a) The office of the central administration of an entity is not included in 
segments reflecting the delivery of various services such as 
education, housing, transportation, water supply, etc., or 

(b) The general assembly building is not included in segments 
reflecting major functional activities such as education and health 
when reporting at the level of the economic entity. 

 Segment assets include operating assets shared by two or more 
segments if a reasonable basis for allocation exists. 

34. The consolidated financial statements of a Local Body may encompass 
entities acquired in an entity acquisition which gives rise to purchased 
goodwill 6. In these cases, segment assets will include goodwill that is 
directly attributable to a segment or that can be allocated to a segment on 
a reasonable basis, and segment expense includes related amortisation of 
goodwill. 

35. Examples of segment liabilities include payables, accrued liabilities, 
advances from members of the community for the provision of partially 
subsidised goods and services in the future and claims relating to the 
provision of goods and services. Segment liabilities do not include 

                                                           
6 Purchase consideration may be there in case of acquisition of a private entity by a 
Local Body and in that case goodwill may arise.  
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borrowings, liabilities related to assets that are the subject of finance 
leases, and other liabilities that are incurred for financing rather than 
operating purposes. If interest expense is included in segment expense, 
the related interest-bearing liability is included in segment liabilities. 

36. The liabilities of segments whose operations are not primarily of a 
financial nature do not include borrowings and similar liabilities because 
segment revenues and expenses do not include financing revenues and 
expenses. Further, because debt is often issued at the head office level 
or by a central borrowing authority on an entity-wide basis, it is often not 
possible to directly attribute, or reasonably allocate, the interest-bearing 
liability to the segment. However, if the financing activities of the entity 
are identified as a separate segment, as may occur at the economic 
entity level, expenses of the “finance” segment will include interest 
expense, and the related interest-bearing liabilities will be included in 
segment liabilities. 

37. Accounting Standards may require adjustments to be made to the 
carrying amounts of the identifiable assets and liabilities of an entity 
acquired in an acquisition (see for example AS 14). Measurements of 
segment assets and liabilities include any adjustments to the prior 
carrying amounts of the identifiable segment assets and segment 
liabilities of an entity acquired in an entity combination accounted for as 
a purchase, even if those adjustments are made only for the purpose of 
preparing consolidated financial statements and are not recorded in either 
the controlling entity’s separate or the controlled entity’s individual 
financial statements. Similarly, if property, plant, and equipment has 
been revalued subsequent to acquisition, in accordance with the 
revaluation model in ASLB 17, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, 
measurements of segment assets reflect those revaluations. 

38. In some cases, a Local Body may control an entity that operates on a 
commercial basis, and is subject to income tax. These entities may be 
required to apply accounting standards such as Accounting Standard (AS) 
22, ‘Income Taxes’ wh ich  prescribe the accounting treatment of income 
taxes. Such standards may require the recognition of income tax assets 
and liabilities in respect of income tax expenses, which are recognised in 
the current period and are recoverable or repayable in future periods. 
These assets and liabilities are not included in segment assets or segment 
liabilities because they arise as a result of all the activities of the entity as a 
whole and the tax arrangements in place in respect of the entity.  
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39. Some guidance for cost allocation can be found in other ASLBs. For 
example, ASLB 12, ‘Inventories’ provides guidance for attributing and 
allocating costs to inventories, and ASLB 11, ‘Construction Contracts’ 
provides guidance for attributing and allocating costs to contracts. That 
guidance may be useful in attributing and allocating costs to segments.  

40. ASLB 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ provides guidance on whether bank 
overdrafts should be included as a component of cash or should be 
reported as borrowings. 

41. The financial statements of a Local Body, and certain other controlling 
entities, may require the consolidation of a number of separate entities 
such as departments, and its agencies. In preparing these consolidated 
financial statements, transactions and balances between controlled 
entities will be eliminated in accordance with ASLB on ‘Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements’ 7. However, segment revenue, segment 
expense, segment assets and segment liabilities are determined before 
balances and transactions between entities within the economic entity are 
eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that 
such intra-economic entity balances and transactions are between 
entities within a single segment. 

42. While the accounting policies used in preparing and presenting the 
financial statements of the entity as a whole are also the fundamental 
segment accounting policies, segment accounting policies include, in 
addition, policies that relate specifically to segment reporting, such as 
the method of pricing inter-segment transfers, and the basis for allocating 
revenues and expenses to segments. 

Segment Accounting Policies 
43. Segment information should be prepared in conformity with the 

accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the 
financial statements of the consolidated group or entity. 

44. There is a presumption that the accounting policies that the governing 
body and management of an entity have chosen to use in preparing the 
consolidated or entity-wide financial statements are those that the 
governing body and management believe are the most appropriate for 
external reporting purposes. Since the purpose of segment information is 
to help users of financial statements better understand and make more 

                                                           
7 ASLB on ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ is yet to be formulated.  
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informed judgments about the entity as a whole, this Standard requires 
the use, in preparing segment information, of the accounting policies that 
the governing body and management have chosen for preparation of the 
consolidated or entity-wide financial statements. That does not mean, 
however, that the consolidated or entity accounting policies are to be 
applied to segments as if the segments were separate reporting 
entities. A detailed calculation done in applying a particular accounting 
policy at the entity-wide level may be allocated to segments if there is a 
reasonable basis for doing so. Employee entitlement calculations, for 
example, are often done for an entity as a whole, but the entity-wide 
figures may be allocated to segments based on salary and demographic 
data for the segments. 

45. As noted in paragraph 42, accounting policies that deal with entity only 
issues such as inter-segment pricing may need to be developed. 
ASLB 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires disclosure of 
accounting policies necessary to understand the financial statements. 
Consistent with those requirements, segment specific policies may 
need to be disclosed. 

46. This Standard permits the disclosure of additional segment information 
that is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for 
the consolidated or entity financial statements provided that: 

(a) The information is relevant for performance assessment and 
decision making purposes; and 

(b) The basis of measurement for this additional information is clearly 
described. 

Joint Assets 
47. Assets that are jointly used by two or more segments should be 

allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and 
expenses are also allocated to those segments. 

48. The way in which asset, liability, revenue and expense items are 
allocated to segments depends on such factors as the nature of those 
items, the activities conducted by the segment, and the relative autonomy 
of that segment. It is not possible or appropriate to specify a single basis 
of allocation that should be adopted by all entities. Nor is it appropriate to 
force allocation of entity asset, liability, revenue and expense items that 
relate jointly to two or more segments, if the only basis for making 
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those allocations is arbitrary or difficult to understand. At the same time, 
the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets 
and segment liabilities are interrelated, and the resulting allocations 
should be consistent. Therefore, jointly used assets are allocated to 
segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses are also 
allocated to those segments. For example, an asset is included in 
segment assets if, and only if, the related depreciation or amortisation is 
included in measuring segment expense. 

Newly Identified Segments 
49. If a segment is identified as a segment for the first time in the 

current period, prior period segment data that is presented for 
comparative purposes should be restated to reflect the newly 
reported segment as a separate segment, unless it is impracticable 
to do so. 

50. New segments may be reported in financial statements in differing 
circumstances. For example, an entity may change its internal reporting 
structure from a service segment structure to a geographical segment 
structure and management may consider it appropriate that this segment 
structure also be adopted for external reporting purposes. An entity may 
also undertake significant new or additional activities, or increase the 
extent to which an activity previously operating as an internal support 
service provides services to external parties. In these cases, new 
segments may be reported for the first time in the general purpose 
financial statements. Where this occurs, this Standard requires that prior 
period comparative data should be restated to reflect the current segment 
structure where practicable. 

Disclosure 
51. The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 52–75 should be 

applied to each segment. 
52. An entity should disclose segment revenue and segment expense 

for each segment. Segment revenue from budget appropriation or 
similar allocation, segment revenue from other external sources and 
segment revenue from transactions with other segments should be 
separately reported. 

53. An entity should disclose the total carrying amount of segment 
assets for each segment. 
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54. An entity should disclose the total carrying amount of segment 
liabilities for each segment. 

55. An entity should disclose the total cost incurred during the period to 
acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more 
than one period for each segment. 

56. An entity is encouraged, but not required, to disclose the nature and 
amount of any items of segment revenue and segment expense that are 
of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to 
explain the performance of each segment for the period. 

57. ASLB 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that when items 
of revenue or expense are material, their nature and amount of such 
items are disclosed separately. ASLB 1 identifies a number of examples of 
such items, including write-downs of inventories and property, plant, and 
equipment; provisions for restructurings; disposals of property, plant, and 
equipment; litigation settlements; and reversals of provisions. The 
encouragement in paragraph 56 is not intended to change the 
classification of any such items or to change the measurement of such 
items. The disclosure encouraged by that paragraph, however, does 
change the level at which the significance of such items is evaluated for 
disclosure purposes from the entity level to the segment level. 

58. This Standard does not require a segment result to be disclosed. 
However, if a segment result is calculated and disclosed, it is an 
operating result which does not include finance charges. 

59. An entity is encouraged but not required to disclose segment cash flows 
consistent with the requirements of ASLB 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’. 
ASLB 2 requires that an entity present a cash flow statement that 
separately reports cash flows from operating, investing, and financing 
activities. It also requires the disclosure of information about certain cash 
flows. The disclosure of cash flow information about each segment can 
be useful in understanding the entity’s overall financial position, liquidity 
and cash flows. 

60. An entity which does not disclose segment cash flows in accordance 
with ASLB 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’ is encouraged, but not required, to 
disclose for each reportable segment: 
(a) Segment expense for depreciation and amortisation of segment 

assets; 
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(b) Other significant non-cash expenses; and 

(c) Significant non-cash revenues that are included in segment 
revenue. 

 This will enable users to determine the major sources and uses of 
cash in respect of segment activities for the period. 

61. An entity should disclose for each segment the aggregate of the 
entity’s share of the net surplus (deficit) of associates, joint 
ventures, or other investments accounted for under the equity 
method if substantially all of those associates’ operations are within 
that single segment. 

62. While a single aggregate amount is disclosed pursuant to the 
requirements of paragraph 61, each associate, joint venture or other 
equity method investment is assessed individually to determine whether 
its operations are substantially all within a segment. 

63. If an entity’s aggregate share of the net surplus (deficit) of 
associates, joint venture, or other investments accounted for under 
the equity method is disclosed by segment, the aggregate 
investments in those associates and joint ventures should also be 
disclosed by segment. 

64. An entity should present a reconciliation between the information 
disclosed for segments and the aggregated information in the 
consolidated or entity financial statements. In presenting the 
reconciliation, segment revenue should be reconciled to entity 
revenue from external sources (including disclosure of the amount 
of entity revenue from external sources not included in any 
segment’s revenue); segment expense should be reconciled to a 
comparable measure of entity expense; segment assets should be 
reconciled to entity assets; and segment liabilities should be 
reconciled to entity liabilities. 

Additional Segment Information 
65. As noted previously, it is anticipated that segments will usually be based 

on the major goods and services the entity provides, the programs it 
operates or the activities it undertakes. This is because information about 
these segments provides users with relevant information about the 
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performance of the entity in achieving its objectives and enables the 
entity to discharge its accountability obligations. However, in some 
organisations, a geographical or other basis may better reflect the basis 
on which services are provided and resources allocated within the entity 
and, therefore, will be adopted for the financial statements. 

66. This Standard adopts the view that disclosure of minimum information 
about both service segments and geographical segments is likely to be 
useful to users for accountability and decision-making purposes. 
Therefore, if an entity reports segment information on the basis of: 

(a) The major goods and services the entity provides, the programs it 
operates, the activities it undertakes or other service segments, it is 
also encouraged to report the following for each geographical 
segment that is reported internally to the governing body and the 
authorised senior official of the entity: 

(i) Segment expense; 

(ii) Total carrying amount of segment assets; and 

(iii) Total outlay during the period to acquire segment assets 
that are expected to be used during more than one period 
(property, plant, equipment and intangible assets); and 

(b) Geographical segments or another basis not encompassed by (a), 
the entity is encouraged to also report the following segment 
information for each major service segment that is reported 
internally to the governing body and the authorised senior official of 
the entity: 

(i) Segment expense; 

(ii) Total carrying amount of segment assets; and 

(iii) Total outlay during the period to acquire segment assets that 
are expected to be used during more than one period 
(property, plant, equipment and intangible assets). 

Other Disclosure Matters 
67. In measuring and reporting segment revenue from transactions with 

other segments, inter-segment transfers should be measured on the 
basis that they occur. The basis of pricing inter-segment transfers 
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and any change therein should be disclosed in the financial 
statements. 

68. Changes in accounting policies adopted for segment reporting that 
have a material effect on segment information should be disclosed. 
Such disclosure should include a description of the nature of the 
change, the reasons for the change, and the financial effect of the 
change if it is reasonably determinable. If an entity changes the 
identification of its segments, then for the purpose of comparison, 
an entity should report segment data for both the old and the new 
bases of segmentation in the year in which it changes the 
identification of its segments. 

69 Changes in accounting policies adopted by the entity are dealt with in 
ASLB 3, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors’. ASLB 3 requires that changes in accounting policy are made by 
an ASLB, or if the change will result in reliable and more relevant 
information about transactions, other events or conditions in the financial 
statements of the entity, or if change in an accounting policy is required by 
a statue. 

70. Changes in accounting policies applied at the entity level that affect 
segment information are dealt with in accordance with ASLB 3. Unless 
a new ASLB specifies otherwise, ASLB 3 requires that: 

(a) A change in accounting policy be applied retrospectively unless it is 
impracticable to determine either the cumulative effect or the 
period-specific effects of the change; 

(b) If retrospective application is not practicable for all periods 
presented, the new accounting policy should be applied 
retrospectively from the earliest practicable date; and 

(c) If it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect of applying 
the new accounting policy at the start of the current period, the 
policy should be applied prospectively from the earliest date 
practicable. 

71. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

72. Paragraph 67 requires that, for segment reporting purposes, inter-
segment transfers should be measured on the basis that the entity 
actually used to price those transfers. If an entity changes the method 
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that it actually uses to price inter-segment transfers that is not a change 
in accounting policy. However, paragraph 67 requires disclosure of the 
change. 

73. If not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements or elsewhere in 
the annual report, an entity should indicate: 

(a) The types of goods and services included in each reported 
service segment; 

(b) The composition of each reported geographical segment; and 

(c) If neither a service nor geographical basis of segmentation is 
adopted, the nature of the segment and activities encompassed 
by it. 

Segment Operating Objectives 
74. If not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements or elsewhere in the 

annual report, the entity is encouraged to disclose the broad operating 
objectives established for each segment at the commencement of the 
reporting period and to comment on the extent to which those objectives 
were achieved. 

75. To enable users to assess the performance of an entity in achieving its 
service delivery objectives, it is necessary to communicate those 
objectives to users. The disclosure of information about the composition of 
each segment, the service delivery objectives of those segments and the 
extent to which those objectives were achieved will support this 
assessment. This information will also enable the entity to better 
discharge its accountability obligations. In many cases, this information 
will be included in the annual report as part of the report of the 
governing body or the authorised senior official. In such cases, 
disclosure of this information in the financial statements is not 
necessary. 

76-77. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
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Appendix A 
Illustrative Segment Disclosures 
The appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the Standard. The 
purpose of the appendix is to illustrate the application of the standard to assist in 
clarifying its meaning. 

The appendix illustrate the both service segment and geographical segment 
disclosures that this Standard would require for a Local Body. For illustrative 
purpose, the examples given below presents comparative data for two years. 
Segment data is required for each year for which a complete set of financial 
statements is presented. 

SCHEDULE A – INFORMATION REPORTED AS PER SERVICE SEGMENTS 
(All amounts in ` lakhs) 

 Health Education Water 
Supply & 
Sewage 
Services 

Housing Eliminations Consolidated 

 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 

SEGMENT 
REVENUE 

            

Appropriation 48 40 22 23 10 10 7 7     

Revenue from 
external 
sources 

5 4 - - 9 6 - -     

Inter-segment 
transfers 

10 6 6 7 2 4 2 2     

Total Segment 
Revenue 

63 50 28 30 21 20 9 9 20 19 101 90 

SEGMENT 
EXPENSE 

            

Salaries and 
Wages 

(39) (31) (13) (13) (13) (13) (2) (2)     

Depreciation (9) (7) (5) (7) (5) (3) (1) (1)     

Other expense (12) (11) (10) (9) (5) (5) (2) (2)     

Total Segment 
Expenses 

(60) (49) (28) (29) (23) (21) (5) (5) 20 19 (96) (85) 
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Unallocated 
central 
expenses 

          (7) (9) 

Deficit from 
Operating 
Activities 

          (2) (4) 

Interest 
expense 

          (4) (3) 

Interest income           2 3 
Share of net 
surplus of 
associates 

      8 7   8 7 

Surplus for 
the period 

          4 3 

OTHER 
INFORMATION 

            

Segment 
assets 

54 50 34 30 10 10 10 9   108 99 

Investment in 
associates 
(equity method) 

      32 26   32 26 

Unallocated 
central assets 

          35 30 

Consolidated 
Total Assets  

          175 155 

Segment 
liabilities 

25 15 8 11 8 8 1 1   42 35 

Unallocated 
central liabilities 

          40 55 

Consolidated 
Total 
Liabilities 

       
 

   82 90 

Capital 
expenditure  

13 10 9 5 4 0 2 3     

Non-cash 
expense 
excluding 
depreciation  

(8) (2) (3) (3) (2) (2) (1) (1)     

Non-cash 
revenue  

- - - - 1 1 - -     
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SCHEDULE B – INFORMATION REPORTED AS PER GEOGRAPHIC 
SEGMENTS (All amounts in ` lakhs) 

 North 
Zone 

East Zone West Zone South 
Zone   

Eliminations  Consolidated 

 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1 20X2    20X1 
SEGMENT 
REVENUE 

            

Appropriation 48 40 22 23 10 10 7 7     
Revenues from 
external 
sources 

5 4 - - 9 6 - -     

Inter-segment 
transfers 

10 6 6 7 2 4 2 2     

Total Segment 
Revenue 

63 50 28 30 21 20 9 9 20 19 101 90 

SEGMENT 
EXPENSE 

            

Salaries and 
Wages 

(39) (31) (13) (13) (13) (13) (2) (2)     

Depreciation (9) (7) (5) (7) (5) (3) (1) (1)     
Other expense (12) (11) (10) (9) (5) (5) (2) (2)     
Total Segment 
Expenses 

(60) (49) (28) (29) (23)  (21) (5) (5) 20 19 (96) (85) 

Unallocated 
central 
expenses 

          (7) (9) 

Deficit from 
Operating 
Activities 

          (2) (4) 

Interest 
expense 

          (4) (3) 

Interest income           2 3 
Share of net 
surplus of 
associates 

      8 7   8 7 

Surplus for 
the period 

          4 3 

OTHER 
INFORMATION 

            

Segment 
assets 
 

54 50 34 30 10 10 10 9   108 99 
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Investment in 
associates 
(equity method) 

      32 26   32 26 

Unallocated 
central assets 

          35 30 

Consolidated 
Total Assets  

          175 155 

Segment 
liabilities 

25 15 8 11 8 8 1 1   42 35 

Unallocated 
central 
 liabilities 

          40 55 

Consolidated 
Total 
Liabilities 

          82 90 

Capital 
expenditure  

13 10 9 5 4 0 2 3     

Non-cash 
expense 
excluding 
depreciation  

(8) (2) (3) (3) (2) (2) (1) (1)     

Non-cash 
revenue  

- - - - 1 1 - -     

Note :  Under Schedule A, Local Body reports to the governing body on the 
basis of major services: health, education, water supply & sewage services and 
housing and under Schedule B, Local Body report on the basis of major 
geographical areas: north zone, east zone, west zone & south zone. 

In above examples, the information reported about the segments is used by the 
governing body and the authorised senior officials as a basis for evaluating the 
entity’s past performance in achieving its objectives and for making decisions 
about the future allocation of resources. The disclosure of information about 
these segments is also considered appropriate for external reporting purposes. 

Inter-segment transfers: In both examples segment revenue and segment 
expense include revenue and expense arising from transfers between segments. 
Such transfers are usually accounted for at cost and are eliminated on 
consolidation. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method. The investment in, and the Local Body’s share of associate’s net profit 
are excluded from segment assets and segment revenue. 
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Appendix B 
Implementation Guidance 
This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, ASLB 18. 

Summary of Required Disclosures 

[¶xx] refers to paragraph xx in the Standard. 

Disclosures 

Total expense by segment [¶52]  

Total revenue by segment [¶52] 

Revenue from budget appropriation or similar allocation by segment [¶52] 

Revenue from external sources (other than appropriation or similar allocation) by 
segment [¶52] 

Revenue from transactions with other segments by segment [¶52]  

Carrying amount of segment assets by segment [¶53] 

Segment liabilities by segment [¶54]  

Cost to acquire assets by segment [¶55] 

Share of net surplus (deficit) of [¶61] and investment in [¶63] equity method 
associates or joint ventures by segment (if substantially all within a single 
segment) 

Reconciliation of revenue, expense, assets and liabilities by segment [¶64] 

Other Disclosures 

Basis of pricing inter-segment transfers and any changes therein [¶67]  

Changes in segment accounting policies [¶68] 

Types of products and services in each service segment [¶73]  

Composition of each geographical segment [¶73] 

If neither a service nor geographical basis of segmentation is adopted, the 
nature of the segments and activities encompassed by each segment [¶73] 
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Appendix 1 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local Bodies. 
The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major differences, if any, 
between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) on, ‘Segment Reporting’ 
and the corresponding International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 
18, ‘Segment Reporting’. 

Comparison with IPSAS 18, ‘Segment Reporting’ 
1 In certain instances, different terminology has been used in the ASLB 18 

as compared to the corresponding IPSAS 18, ‘Segment Reporting’, e.g., 
the term ‘balance sheet’ has been used in place of ‘statement of financial 
position’, ‘income and expenditure statement’ has been used in place of 
‘statement of financial performance’ and the ‘authorised senior official’ has 
been used in place of ‘senior manager’. 

2 Appendix on qualitative characteristics of financial reporting given in 
IPSAS 18 has been removed from the ASLB 18 as the same are 
proposed to be covered in the ‘Conceptual Framework for General 
Purpose Financial Reporting in Local Bodies’.  

3 Paragraph 3 of IPSAS 18 which provides that Government Business 
Enterprises should use IFRSs, has been deleted, as it is not relevant for 
the ASLB 18, which is applicable to Local Bodies in India. However, 
paragraph number has been retained in ASLB 18 in order to maintain 
consistency with IPSAS 18. 

4 Certain examples given in the IPSAS 18 have been deleted/ modified and 
illustrative example given in Appendix A of the IPSAS 18 has been 
modified in the ASLB 18 in order to make them more relevant for the Local 
Bodies in India. 

5 ASLB 18 provides the threshold limit for the number of segments that are 
required to be reported, i.e., not more than ten segments are to be 
reported. IPSAS 18 does not provide the same.  

6 ASLB 18 contains additional guidance for identification of the primary and 
secondary segments as compared to the IPSAS 18.  

7 As per IPSAS 18, the statement showing changes in net assets/equity is 
included as separate statements in the complete set of the financial 
statements in line with IPSAS 1. The said requirement has been modified 
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in the ASLB 18 in line with the ASLB 1 which prescribes that the 
statement of changes in equity is to be annexed to the balance sheet. 

8 In case of change in accounting policies adopted for the segment, IPSAS 
18 requires to restate the comparative information for each segment 
unless it is impracticable to do so. The said requirement has been 
removed in the ASLB 18 in line with the ASLB 3. 

9 Paragraphs pertaining to Effective Date have been deleted as the ASLB 
18 would become mandatory for the Local Bodies in a State from the date 
specified by the State Government concerned. 

10 Consequential changes in the ASLB 18 have been made due to all above 
changes. However, paragraph numbers have been retained to maintain 
consistency with the corresponding IPSAS.  
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Appendix 2 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local Bodies. 
The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major differences, if any, 
between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) on Segment Reporting 
and the corresponding existing Accounting Standard (AS) 17, ‘Segment 
Reporting’ (Issued 2000). 

Major differences between the ASLB 18, ‘Segment 
Reporting’, and existing AS 17 (issued 2000) 
1. ASLB 18 is based on the corresponding IPSAS which require entities to 

report segments on a basis appropriate for assessing past performance 
and making decision about allocation of resources. Whereas, the 
corresponding existing AS requires segments to be reported on the basis 
of risk and reward. 

2. Additional commentary to that in existing AS 18 is there in order to clarify 
the applicability of the Standard to Local Bodies. 

3. In certain circumstances, different terminology has been used in ASLB 18 
such as ‘Income and Expenditure Statement’ in place of ‘Profit and Loss 
Account’, and ‘Governing Body’ and ‘Authorised Senior Official’ in place of 
‘Board of Directors’ and ‘Chief Executive Officer’, respectively. 

4. ASLB 18 provides that where the entity report to the Governing body on 
the basis of more than one segment structure, in that case both segments 
may be reported in form of matrix or separately in form of primary and 
secondary segment reporting structure with only limited disclosure made 
about secondary segments whereas as per AS 17 reportable segments 
are classified as primary and secondary segments on basis of risk and 
return. 

5. ASLB 18 does not require entities to disclose segment results whereas as 
per AS 17 the segment results are to be disclosed.  
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Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 20 
Related Party Disclosures 

(This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and 
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate 
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context 
of its objective and the Preface to Accounting Standards for Local Bodies1.) 

The Accounting Standards for Local Bodies (ASLB) 20, ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’, issued by the Council of the Institute of the Chartered 
Accountants of India, will be recommendatory in nature in the initial years for 
use by the Local Bodies. This Standard will be mandatory for Local Bodies in 
a State from the date specified in this regard by the State Government 
concerned2. 

The following is the text of the Accounting Standards for Local Bodies.  

Objective 
The objective of this Standard is to require the disclosure of the existence of 
related party relationships where control exists and the disclosure of 
information about transactions between the entity and its related parties in 
certain circumstances. This information is required for accountability 
purposes and to facilitate a better understanding of the financial position and 
performance of the reporting entity. The principal issues in disclosing 
information about related parties are identifying which parties control or 
significantly influence the reporting entity and determining what information 
should be disclosed about transactions with those parties. 

Scope 
1. An entity which prepares and presents financial statements under 

the accrual basis of accounting should apply this Standard in 
disclosing information about related party relationships and 
certain transactions with related parties. 

                                                           
1Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.2 of the ‘Preface to Accounting Standards 
for Local Bodies’, according to which Accounting Standards are intended to apply only to 
items which are material. 
2 Reference may be made to the paragraph 7.1 of the ‘Preface to Accounting Standards 
for Local Bodies’ providing the discussion on the compliance with the Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies. 
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2. This Standard applies to all entities that are described as the 
Local Bodies in the Preface to Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies3. 

3. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Definitions 
4. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings 

specified: 

 Close members of the family of an individual are close relatives of 
the individual or members of the individual’s immediate family 
who can be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that 
individual in their dealings with the entity. 

 Key management personnel are: 

(a) All directors or members of the governing body of the 
entity; and 

(b) Other persons having the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
reporting entity. Where they meet this requirement, key 
management personnel include: 

(i) Where there is a member of the governing body of 
Central/State Government who has the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the reporting entity, that member; 

(ii) Any key advisors of that member; and 

(iii) Unless already included in (a), the senior 
management group of the reporting entity, including 
the chief executive or permanent head of the 
reporting entity. 

Oversight means the supervision of the activities of an entity, 
with the authority and responsibility to control, or exercise 

                                                           
3 Refer paragraph 1.3 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting Standards for Local Bodies’. 
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significant influence over, the financial and operating decisions 
of the entity. 

Related party means parties are considered to be related if one 
party has the ability (a) to control the other party, or (b) exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and 
operating decisions or if the related party entity and another 
entity are subject to common control. Related parties include: 

(a) Entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more 
intermediaries,  control,  or  are  controlled  by  the  
reporting entity; 

(b) Associates (see ASLB 36, ‘Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures’4); 

(c) Individuals having, directly or  indirectly,  an  interest  in  
the reporting entity that gives them significant influence 
over the entity, and close members of the family of any 
such individual; 

(d) Key management personnel, and close members of the 
family of key management personnel; and 

(e) Entities in which a substantial ownership interest is held, 
directly or indirectly, by any person described in (c) or (d), 
or over which such a person is able to exercise significant 
influence. 

Related party transaction is a transfer of resources or obligations 
between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
Related party transactions exclude transactions with any other 
entity that is a related party solely because of its economic 
dependence on the reporting entity or the Government of which it 
forms part. 

Remuneration of key management personnel is any consideration 
or benefit derived directly or indirectly by key management 
personnel from the reporting entity for services provided in their 
capacity as members  of  the  governing  body  or  otherwise  as  
employees  of  the reporting entity. 

                                                           
4 This ASLB is under formulation. 
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Significant influence (for the purpose of this Standard) is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of an entity, but not control those policies. Significant 
influence may be exercised in several ways, usually by 
representation on the  governing body or any of its Committees 
but also by, for example, participation in the policy making 
process, material transactions between entities within an 
economic entity, interchange of managerial personnel or 
dependence on technical information. Significant influence may 
be gained by an ownership interest, statute or agreement. With 
regard to an ownership interest, significant influence is presumed 
in accordance with the definition contained in ASLB 36. 

Terms defined in other ASLBs are used in this Standard with the 
same meaning as in those other Standards. 

Close Member of the Family of an Individual 
5. Judgment will be necessary in determining whether an individual 

should be identified as a close member of the family of an individual 
for purposes of application of this Standard. In the absence of 
information to the contrary, such as that a spouse or other relative is 
estranged from the individual, the following immediate family members 
and close relatives are presumed to have, or be subject to, such 
influence as to satisfy the definition of close members of the family of 
an individual: 

(a) A spouse, domestic partner, dependent child or relative living in 
a common household; 

(b) A grandparent, parent, nondependent child, grandchild, brother 
or sister; and 

(c) The  spouse  or  domestic  partner  of  a  child,  a  parent-in-law,  
a brother-in-law or a sister-in-law. 

Key Management Personnel 
6. Key management personnel include all directors or elected or 

appointed members of the governing body of the reporting entity 
where that body has the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the entity.  
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7. Where an entity is subject to the oversight of an elected or appointed 
representative of the governing body of the Central/ State 
Government,  that  person  is  included  in  key  management  
personnel  if  the oversight function includes the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
entity. In many cases, key advisors of that person may not possess 
sufficient authority, legal or otherwise, to satisfy the definition of key 
management personnel. In other cases, key advisors of that person 
may be deemed to be key management personnel because they have 
a special working relationship with an individual who has control over 
an entity. They therefore have access to privileged information and 
may also be able to exercise control or significant influence over an 
entity. Judgment is required in assessing whether an individual is a 
key advisor and whether that advisor satisfies the definition of key 
management personnel, or is a related party. 

8. The governing body and its Committees, together with the chief 
executive and senior management group has the authority and 
responsibility to plan and control the activities of the entity, to manage 
the resources of the entity and for the overall achievement of entity 
objectives. Therefore, key management personnel will include the 
chief executive and senior management group of the reporting entity.  

9. The senior management group of an economic entity may comprise 
individuals from both the controlling entity and other entities that 
collectively make up the economic entity. 

Related Parties 
10. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is 

directed to the substance of the relationship, and not merely the legal 
form. 

11. Where two entities have a member of key management personnel in 
common, it is necessary to consider the possibility, and to assess the 
likelihood, that this person would be able to affect the policies of both 
entities in their mutual dealings. However, the mere fact that there is a 
member of key management personnel in common does not 
necessarily create a related party relationship. 

12. In the context of this Standard, the following are deemed not to be 
related parties: 
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(a) (i) Providers of finance in the course of their  business in 
that regard; and 

 (ii) Trade unions; 
 in the course of their normal dealings with an entity by virtue 

only of those dealings (although they may circumscribe the 
freedom of action of an entity or participate in its decision-
making process); and 

(b) An entity with which the relationship is solely that of an agency. 

13. Related party relationships may arise when an individual is either a 
member of the governing body or is involved in the financial and 
operating decisions of the reporting entity. Related party relationships 
may also arise through external operating relationships between the 
reporting entity and the related party. Such relationships will often 
involve a degree of economic dependency. 

14. Economic dependency, where one entity is dependent on another in 
that it relies on the latter for a significant volume of its funding or sale 
of its goods and services, would on its own be unlikely to lead to 
control or significant influence and is therefore unlikely to give rise to a 
related party relationship. As such, a single customer, supplier, 
franchisor, distributor, or general agent with whom an entity transacts 
a significant volume of business will not be a related party merely by 
virtue of the resulting economic dependency. However, economic 
dependency, together with other factors, may give rise to significant 
influence and therefore a related party relationship. Judgment is 
required in assessing the impact of economic dependence on a 
relationship. Where the reporting entity is economically dependent on 
another entity, the reporting entity is encouraged to disclose the 
existence of that dependency. 

15. The definition of related party includes entities owned by key 
management personnel, close family members of such individuals or 
major shareholders (or equivalent where the entity does not have a 
formal equity structure) of the reporting entity. The definition of related 
party also includes circumstances in which one party has the ability to 
exercise significant influence over the other party. In Local Bodies, an 
individual or entity may be given oversight responsibility for a reporting 
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entity, which gives them significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating decisions of the reporting entity. For the 
purposes of this Standard, significant influence is defined to 
encompass joint ventures. 

15A.  Related party disclosure requirements as laid down in this 
Standard do not apply in circumstances where providing such 
disclosures would conflict with the reporting entity’s duties of 
confidentiality as specifically required in terms of a statute or by 
any regulator or similar competent authority.              

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
16. Remuneration of key management personnel includes remuneration 

derived by individuals from the reporting entity for services provided to 
the reporting entity in their capacity as members of the governing body 
or employees. Benefits derived directly or indirectly from the entity for 
services in any capacity other than as an employee or a member of 
the governing body do not satisfy the definition of remuneration of key 
management personnel in this Standard. However, paragraph 34 
requires disclosures to be made about certain of these other benefits. 
Remuneration of key management personnel excludes any 
consideration provided solely as a reimbursement for expenditure 
incurred by those individuals for the benefit of the reporting entity, 
such as the reimbursement of accommodation costs associated with 
work-related travel. 

17. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

The Related Party Issue 
18. Related party relationships exist throughout the Local-self 

Government, because: 

(a) Administrative units are subject to the overall direction of the 
Local Body and, ultimately, the Council or  similar body of 
elected or appointed officials, and operate together to achieve 
the policies of the Local Body; 

(b) Local Bodies frequently conduct activities necessary for the 
achievement of different components of their responsibilities 
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and objectives through separate controlled entities, and through 
entities over which they have significant influence; and 

(c) Ministers of the government or elected or appointed members of 
the governing body of Local Body and senior management 
group can exert significant influence over the operations of a 
Local Body. 

19. Disclosure of certain related party relationships and related party 
transactions and the relationship underlying those transactions is 
necessary for accountability purposes and enables users to better 
understand the financial statements of the reporting entity because: 

(a) Related party relationships can influence the way in which an 
entity operates with other entities in achieving its individual 
objectives, and the way in which it co-operates with other 
entities in achieving common or collective objectives; 

(b) Related party relationships might expose an entity to risks or 
provide opportunities that would not have existed in the absence 
of the relationship; and 

(c) Related parties may enter into transactions that unrelated 
parties would not enter into, or may agree to transactions on 
different terms and  conditions  than  those  that  would  
normally  be  available  to  unrelated parties. This may occur in 
Local Bodies where goods and services are transferred between 
one Local Body to another Local Body at less than full cost 
recovery as a part of normal operating procedures consistent 
with the achievement of the objectives of the reporting entity. 
The entities are expected to use resources efficiently, effectively 
and in the manner intended, and to deal with public monies with 
the highest levels of integrity. The existence of related party 
relationships means that one party can control or significantly 
influence the activities of another party. This provides the 
opportunity for transactions to occur on a basis that may 
advantage one party inappropriately at the expense of another. 

20. Disclosure of certain types of related party transactions that occur and 
the terms and conditions on which they were conducted allows users 
to assess the impact of those transactions on the financial position and 
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performance of an entity and its ability to deliver agreed services. This 
disclosure also ensures that the entity is transparent about its dealings 
with related parties. 

20A. Because there is an inherent difficulty for management to determine 
the effect of influences which do not lead to transactions, disclosures 
of such effects is not required by the Standard.  

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
21. Key management personnel hold positions of responsibility within an 

entity. They are responsible for the strategic direction and operational 
management of an entity and are entrusted with significant authority. 
Their salaries are often established by statute or Government Order or 
Governing Body of the entity. However, their responsibilities may 
enable them to influence the benefits of office that flow to them or their 
related parties. This Standard requires certain disclosures to be made 
about the remuneration of key management personnel and close 
members of the family of key management personnel during the 
reporting period, loans or advances made to them and the 
consideration provided to them for services they provide to the entity 
other than as a member of the governing body or an employee. The 
disclosures required by this Standard will ensure that appropriate 
minimum levels of transparency are applied to the remuneration of key 
management personnel and close members of the family of key 
management personnel. 

Materiality 
22. ASLB 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires the separate 

disclosure of material items. The materiality of an item is determined 
with reference to the nature or size of that item. When assessing the 
materiality of related party transactions, the nature of the relationship 
between the reporting entity and the related party and the nature of the 
transaction may mean that a transaction is material regardless of its 
size. 

Disclosure 
23. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
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24. Some ASLBs also require disclosure of transactions with related 
parties. For example, ASLB 1 requires disclosure of amounts payable 
to and receivable from controlling entities, fellow controlled entities, 
associates and other related parties. ASLB 38, ‘Disclosure of Interests 
in Other Entities’ 5  requires an entity to disclose information that 
enables users of its consolidated financial statements to understand 
the composition of the economic entity and information about each 
joint arrangement and associate that is material to the reporting entity.  

Disclosure of Control 
25. Related party relationships where control exists should be 

disclosed irrespective of whether or not there have been 
transactions between the related parties. 

26. In order for a reader of financial statements to form a view about the 
effects of related party relationships on a reporting entity, it is 
appropriate to disclose related party relationships where control exists, 
irrespective of whether or not there have been transactions between 
the related parties.  This would involve the disclosure of the names of 
any controlled entities, the name of the immediate controlling entity 
and the name of the ultimate controlling entity, if any. 

Disclosure of Related Party Transactions 
27. If there have been transactions  between  related  parties, 

during the existence of related party relationship, the 
reporting entity should disclose the following: 
(a) The name of the transacting related party; 

(b) A description of the nature of the relationship with related 
parties involved in the transactions. For example, whether 
the relationship was one of a controlling entity, a controlled 
entity, an entity under common control, or key management 
personnel; 

(c) A description of the related party transactions within each 
broad class of transaction and an indication of the volume 
of the classes, either as a specific monetary amount or as a 
proportion of that class of transactions and/or balances; 

                                                           
5 This ASLB is under formulation. 
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(d) Any other elements of the related party transactions 
necessary to clarify the significance of these transactions 
to its operations and sufficient to enable the financial 
statements to provide relevant and reliable information for 
decision making and accountability purposes; and 

(e) Amounts or appropriate proportions of outstanding items. 

28. The following are examples of the related party transactions in respect 
of which disclosures may be made by a reporting entity: 
(a) Rendering or receiving of services; 
(b) Purchases or transfers/sales of goods (finished or unfinished); 
(c) Purchases or transfers/sales of property and other assets; 
(d) Agency arrangements; 
(e) Leasing arrangements; 
(f) Transfer of research and development; 
(g) License agreements; 
(h) Finance (including loans, capital contributions, grants whether in 

cash or in kind and other financial support including cost sharing 
arrangements);  

(i) Guarantees and collaterals; and 
(j) Management contracts including deputation of employees. 

28A.  Paragraph 27 (d) requires disclosure of “any other elements of the 
related party transactions necessary to clarify the significance of these 
transactions to its operations and sufficient to enable the financial 
statements to provide relevant and reliable information for decision 
making and accountability purposes”. An example of such a disclosure 
would be an indication that the transfer of a major asset had taken 
place at an amount materially different from that obtainable on normal 
operating terms. 

29. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
30. [Refer to Appendix 1]  
31. Paragraph 34 of this Standard requires additional disclosures to be 

made about certain transactions between an entity and key 
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management personnel and/or the close members of the family of key 
management personnel. 

32. Items of a similar nature may be disclosed in aggregate except 
when separate disclosure is necessary to provide relevant and 
reliable information for decision making and accountability 
purposes. 

33. Disclosure of related party transactions between members of an 
economic entity is unnecessary in consolidated financial statements 
because consolidated financial statements present information about 
the controlling entity and controlled entities as a single reporting entity. 
Related party transactions that occur between entities within an 
economic entity are eliminated on consolidation in accordance with 
ASLB 35, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’6.  

Disclosure — Key Management Personnel 
34. An entity should disclose: 

(a) The aggregate remuneration of key management personnel 
and the number of individuals, determined on a full time 
equivalent basis, receiving remuneration within this 
category, showing separately major classes of key 
management personnel and including a description of each 
class; 

(b) The total amount of all other remuneration and 
compensation provided to key management personnel, and 
close members of the family of key management personnel, 
by the reporting entity during the reporting period showing 
separately the aggregate amounts provided to: 

(i) Key management personnel; and 

(ii) Close members of the family of key management 
personnel; and 

(c) In respect of loans  or advances which are not widely 
available to persons who are  not  key  management  
personnel  and  loans or advances  whose availability is not 
widely known by members of the public, for each individual 

                                                           
6 This ASLB is yet to be formulated. 
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member of key management personnel and each close 
member of the family of key management personnel: 
(i) The amount of loans or advances given during the 

period and terms and conditions thereof; 
(ii) The amount of loans or advances repaid during the 

period; 
(iii) The amount of the closing balance of all loans, 

advances and receivables; and 
(iv) Where the individual is not a member of the 

governing body or senior management group of the 
entity, the relationship of the individual to such body 
or group. 

35. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
36. Persons who are key management personnel may be employed on a 

full or part time basis. The number of individuals disclosed as 
receiving remuneration in accordance with paragraph 34(a) needs to 
be estimated on a full time equivalent basis. Entities will make 
separate disclosures about the major classes of key management 
personnel that they have. For example, where an entity has a 
governing body that is separate from its senior management group, 
disclosures about remuneration of the two groups will be made 
separately. Where an individual is a member of both the governing 
body and the senior management group, that individual will be 
included in only one of those groups for the purposes of this Standard. 
The categories of   key   management   personnel   identified   in   the   
definition   of   key management personnel provide a guide to 
identifying classes of key management personnel. 

37. Remuneration of key management personnel can include a variety of 
direct and indirect benefits. Where the cost of these benefits is 
determinable, that cost will be included in the aggregate remuneration 
disclosed. Where the cost of these benefits is not determinable, a best 
estimate of the cost to the reporting entity or entities will be made and 
included in the aggregate remuneration disclosed. 

38. Requirements on the measurement of employee benefits are found in 
ASLB 25, ‘Employee Benefits’7. When non-monetary remuneration that 

                                                           
7 This ASLB is under formulation.  
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is able to be reliably measured has been included in the aggregate 
amount of remuneration of key management personnel disclosed for 
the period, disclosure would also be made in the notes to the financial 
statements of the basis of measurement of the non-monetary 
remuneration. 

39. This Standard requires the disclosure of certain information about the 
terms and conditions of loans or advances made to key management 
personnel and close members of the family of key management 
personnel, where these loans or advances: 

(a) Are not widely available to persons outside the key 
management group; and 

(b) May be widely available outside the key management group but 
whose availability is not widely known to members of the public. 

The disclosure of this information is required for accountability 
purposes. The exercise of judgment may be necessary in determining 
which loans or advances should be disclosed to satisfy the 
requirements of this Standard. That judgment should be exercised 
after consideration of the relevant facts and in a manner consistent 
with the achievement of the objectives of financial reporting. 

40. Paragraph 34(a) of this Standard requires disclosure of the aggregate 
remuneration of key management personnel. Key management 
personnel include directors or members of the governing body and 
members of the senior management group of the entity. Directors or 
members of the governing body of the entity may also receive 
remuneration or compensation from the entity for services provided in 
a capacity other than as director or member of the governing body of 
the entity or as an employee of the entity. Paragraph 34(b)(i) of this 
Standard requires the disclosure of the total amount of this other 
remuneration or compensation. 

41. Close members of the family of key management personnel may 
influence, or be influenced by, key management personnel in their 
transactions with the reporting entity. Paragraph 34(b)(ii) of this  
Standard requires the disclosure of the total remuneration and 
compensation provided during the period to close members of the 
family of key management personnel. 

42 - 43. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
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Illustrative Examples 
The appendix is illustrative only and does not form part of the Standard. The 
purpose of the appendix is to illustrate the application of the Standard to 
assist in clarifying their meaning. 

Disclosures — Local Body X 

The following disclosures are made in the financial statements of Local Body 
X. 

Controlled Entities (Paragraph 25) 

The Local Body controls the following reporting entities: Power distribution 
entity, water supply entity and transport entity. Joint Ventures for Solid Waste 
Management or other specific projects on PPP mode, entities for power 
generation, water supply, transportation, etc. 

(Note: ASLB 35 requires that certain disclosures be made about significant 
controlled entities.) 

Related Party Transactions (Paragraph 27) 

A Councilor was provided with a motor vehicle, rent free. The provision of 
vehicle is not part of the facilities to Councilor. However, in this case it was 
necessary to provide a vehicle for the Councilor. 

The business partner of a Councilor as an Advisor to the Local Body was 
provided with a motor vehicle, rent free. Cars similar to that provided 
normally rent for INR K per annum.  

Key Management Personnel (Paragraph 34)  

 Remuneration (Paragraph 34(a)) 

The key management personnel (as defined by ASLB 20, ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’) are the members of Council, who together constitute the 
governing body of Local Body X. The aggregate remuneration of members of 
the Council and the number of individuals determined on a full-time 
equivalent basis receiving remuneration from Local Body X are: 

Aggregate remuneration ` X crores. 

Number of persons Y persons. 
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Loans or advances that are not widely available (and/or widely 
known) to persons outside the Key Management Group 
(Paragraph 34(c)) 

Amounts of such loans advanced and repaid during the period, and the 
balances outstanding at the end of the period are outlined below: 

Individual Advanced Repaid Balance 

The Honorable ABC J K L 

Ms. VSL M N P 

D, the Commissioner  Q R Z 

Terms and Conditions 
The Honorable ABC, Chairman of Taxation Committee, received a loan at 
X% per annum, which is Y% below the market rate. The term of the loan is 
for Z years. 
Ms. VSL, Technical Advisor to Mayor, received a loan from Local Body. The 
loan is for N years at X% per annum, the current Government borrowing rate. 
The salary package of D, the Commissioner allow him to take out a 
Government loan for up to A years at Y% per annum to purchase a car. 

Other remuneration and compensation provided to key 
management personnel and their close family members 
(Paragraph 34(b)) 

During the reporting period, total compensation of INR X amount was 
provided to members of the Council for consulting services provided to 
particular departments of the Local Body. 
During the reporting period, the Local Body provided total remuneration and 
compensation of INR Y amount to close family members of key management 
personnel. This amount consists of the remuneration of Local Body 
employees who are close members of the family of members of the Council. 
Disclosure―Government Agency XYZ 
These disclosures are made in the financial statements of Government 
Agency XYZ, which is a separate reporting entity. 
Controlled Entities (Paragraph 25) 

The Agency is controlled by Local Body X.  
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The Agency controls the e-procurement services. 

(Note: ASLB 35 requires that certain disclosures be made about significant 
controlled entities.) 

Related Party Transactions (Paragraph 27) 

The Agency provided a house, rent free, to the Councilor. Houses similar to 
that provided to the Councilor rent for approximately INR Z per annum. The 
house is not part of the remuneration package of the Councilor and, as a 
matter of operating procedure, Local Bodies do not provide residential 
accommodation to Councilors. However, Local Body X advised that the 
house should be provided on this occasion. 

Key Management Personnel (Paragraph 34)  

Remuneration (Paragraph 34(a)) 

The key management personnel (as defined by ASLB 20) of Agency XYZ 
are: the Minister, the members of the governing body and the Members of 
the senior management group. The governing body consists of members 
appointed by Local Body X; the chief executive officer and the chief financial 
officer attend meetings of the governing body but are not members of the 
governing body. The Minister is not remunerated by Agency XYZ. The 
aggregate remuneration of members of the governing body and the number 
of members determined on a full time equivalent basis receiving 
remuneration within this category, are: 

Aggregate remuneration  AX crores.  

Number of persons AY persons. 

The senior management group consists of the Agency’s chief executive 
officer, the chief financial officer, and the AZ heads of division. The 
aggregate remuneration of members of the senior management group and 
the number of managers determined on a full-time equivalent basis receiving 
remuneration within this category are: 

Aggregate remuneration  AP crores.  

Number of persons AQ persons. 

Two division heads are on secondment from Local Body X and are 
remunerated by Local Body X. 



Related Party Disclosures 

77 

Loans or advances that are not widely available (and/or widely 
known) to persons outside the key management group (Paragraph 
34(c)) 

Amounts advanced and repaid during the period and balance outstanding at 
the end of the period: 

Individual Advanced Repaid Balance 

The Mayor  
Mr. G 
Ms. H 

J 
M 
Q 

K 
N 
R 

L 
P 
Z 

Terms and Conditions 

The Mayor received a loan of INR J at X% per annum, which is Y% below the 
market rate. The term of the loan is for Z years. 

The salary package of senior staff members Mr. G and Ms. H allows them to 
take out a Government loan for up to N years at Y% per annum to purchase 
a car. 

Remuneration and compensation provided to close family 
members of key management personnel (Paragraph 34(b)) 

During the reporting period, total remuneration and compensation of 
Famount was provided by the Agency to employees who are close family 
members of key management personnel. 
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Appendix 1 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local 
Bodies. The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major 
differences, if any, between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 
20, ‘Related Party Disclosures’  and the corresponding International Public 
Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 20, ‘Related Party Disclosures’. 

Comparison with IPSAS 20, ‘Related Party Disclosures’  
1. The following paragraphs of IPSAS 20 have been deleted. In order to 

maintain consistency with the corresponding IPSAS 20, the paragraph 
numbers have been retained. 

(a) Paragraph 3 provides that Government Business Enterprises 
(GBEs) should use IFRSs, has been deleted, as it is not 
relevant for Local Bodies in India; 

(b) Paragraph 17 relating to voting power has been deleted as the 
Local Bodies may not have a corporate type structure; 

(c) Paragraph 23 pertaining to disclosure for GBEs in some 
countries, has been deleted as may not be relevant for Local 
Bodies in India;  

(d) Paragraphs 29 and 35 pertaining to disclosure of the information 
about transactions between related parties that occur other than 
on normal terms and conditions, have been deleted as 
disclosure of all related party transactions has been made 
mandatory in the ASLB 20;  

(e) Disclosures of related party transactions prescribed under 
paragraph 30 in IPSAS 20 have been  merged with the 
paragraph 27 in ASLB 20; and 

(f) Paragraphs 42 - 43 pertaining to effective date have been 
deleted as the ASLB 20 would become mandatory for Local 
Bodies in a State from the date specified in this regard by the 
State Government concerned.  

2. The following paragraphs of IPSAS 20 have been amended and  some 
new paragraphs have been incorporated in ASLB 20 to make the 
Standard more relevant in the context of Local Bodies in India: 
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(i) To clarify that this ASLB applies to Local Bodies (refer 
paragraph 2);  

(ii) Explanation with regard to civil servants not qualifying as KMPs 
in some jurisdictions has been deleted; 

(iii) Disclosures that conflict with the confidentiality requirements of 
a statue/regulations are not required to be made (insertion of a 
new paragraph 15A); 

(iv) Where there is an inherent difficulty for management to 
determine the effect of influences that do not lead to the 
transactions, disclosures of such effects are not required 
(insertion of a new paragraph 20A); and 

(v) Disclosure of all related party transactions have been made 
mandatory (paragraphs 27, 28 modified and insertion of a new 
paragraph 28A).  

3. Some examples of IPSAS 20 have been deleted/ included in the ASLB 
20, and some examples have been modified in the light of Indian 
conditions. 

(a) Management contracts including for deputation or employees’ 
has been added in the example of transactions that are 
disclosed if they are with related party. (refer paragraph 28 (j)). 

(b) Example in paragraph 29 has been modified in context of Local 
Bodies in India. 

(c) Illustrative Examples given in Appendix have been modified 
suitably. 

4. Different terminology as relevant for Local Bodies in Indian Context 
such as ‘Governing Body’ in place of ‘Board of Directors’, ‘Local 
Body/Entity’ in place of  ‘Public Sector Entity’, etc., has been used in 
ASLB 20. 
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Appendix 2 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local 
Bodies. The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major 
differences, if any, between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 
20, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ and the corresponding existing Accounting 
Standard (AS) 18, ‘Related Party Disclosures’. 

Major differences between the ASLB 20, ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’ and existing AS 18, ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’ 
1. Existing AS 18 uses the term ‘relatives of an individual’, whereas the 

ASLB 20 uses the term ‘a close member of the family of an individual’. 
The definition of ‘close member of the family of an individual’ given in 
ASLB 20 is wider than that is contained in existing AS 18, as 
according to definition in ASLB 20 domestic partner, relative living in a 
common household, grand-parent, grand-children, spouse or domestic 
partner of child, parent-in-law, brother-in-law or sister-in-law are also 
covered under ‘close members of a family of an Individual’. 

2. Existing AS 18 covers ‘Key Management Personnel (KMP)’ of the 
entity only, whereas in addition the ASLB 20 covers the member of 
governing body of Central/ State Government and any key advisors of 
that member. 

3. ASLB 20 includes a definition of ‘remuneration of key management 
personnel’. Existing AS does not include this definition. 

4. Paragraph 36 of ASLB 20 requires extended disclosures for 
compensation of KMP under different categories, whereas the existing 
AS 18 does not specifically require. 
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Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 24 
Presentation of Budget Information in Financial 

Statements 
(This Accounting Standard includes paragraphs set in bold italic type and 
plain type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold italic type indicate 
the main principles. This Accounting Standard should be read in the context 
of its objective and the Preface to the Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies1) 
The Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 24, ‘Presentation of 
Budget Information in Financial Statements’, issued by the Council of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, will be recommendatory in nature 
in the initial years for use by the Local Bodies. This Standard will be 
mandatory for Local Bodies in a State from the date specified in this regard 
by the State Government concerned2. 
The following is the text of the Accounting Standard for Local Bodies. 

Objective 
1. This  Standard  requires  a  comparison  of  budget  amounts  and  the  

actual amounts arising from execution of the budget to be included in 
the financial statements of entities that are required to, or elect to, 
make publicly available their approved budget(s), and for which they 
are, therefore, held publicly accountable. This Standard also requires 
disclosure of an explanation of the reasons for material differences 
between the budget and actual amounts. Compliance with the 
requirements of this Standard will ensure that entities discharge their 
accountability obligations and enhance the transparency of their 
financial statements by demonstrating (a) compliance with the 
approved budget(s) for which they are held publicly accountable and 
(b) where the budget(s) and the financial statements are prepared on 
the same basis, their financial performance in achieving the budgeted 
results. 

                                                           
1  Attention is specifically drawn to paragraph 4.2 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’, according to which Accounting Standards are intended to 
apply only to items which are material. 
2  Reference may be made to the paragraph 7.1 of the ‘Preface to the Accounting 
Standards for Local Bodies’ providing the discussion on the compliance with the 
Accounting Standards for Local Bodies. 
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Scope 
2. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under 

the accrual basis of accounting should apply this Standard. 
3. This Standard applies to all entities that are described as the 

Local Bodies in the Preface to Accounting Standards for Local 
Bodies and are required or elect to make their approved budget(s) 
publicly available. 

4. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
5. This Standard does not require approved budgets to be made publicly 

available, nor does it require that the financial statements disclose 
information about, or make comparisons with, approved budgets that 
are not made publicly available. 

6. In some cases, approved budgets will be compiled to encompass all 
the activities controlled by a Local Body. In other cases, separate 
approved budgets may be required to be made publicly available for 
certain activities, groups of activities, or entities included in the 
financial statements of a Local Body. This may occur where, for 
example, financial statements of a Local Body encompass Local 
Body’s agencies or programmes that have operational autonomy and 
prepare their own budgets. This Standard applies to all entities that 
present financial statements when approved budgets for the entity, or 
components thereof, are made publicly available. 

Definitions 
7. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings 

specified: 

Annual budget means an approved budget for one year. It does 
not include published forward estimates or projections for 
periods beyond the budget period. 

Appropriation is an authorisation granted by a governing body to 
allocate funds for purposes specified by the governing body or 
similar authority. 

Approved budget means the anticipated revenue or receipts and 
expenditure approved by the governing body or similar authority 
relating to the budgeted period. 
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Budgetary basis means the accrual, cash, or other basis of 
accounting adopted in the budget that has been approved by the 
governing body. 

Budget period is the period covered by the budget as prescribed 
in the relevant legislation. 

Comparable basis means the actual amounts presented on the 
same accounting basis, same classification basis, for the same 
entities and for the same period as the approved budget. 

Revised budget3 is the original budget adjusted for all reserves, 
carry-over amounts, transfers, allocations, supplemental 
appropriations and other changes authorised by the governing 
body or similar authority changes applicable to the budget period. 

Governing body is a body that is authorised by relevant 
legislative law to formulate policies concerning the activities of a 
Local Body such as a Committee, Board or a Council. 

Multi-year budget is an approved budget for more than one year. 
It does not include published forward estimates or projections for 
periods beyond the budget period.4 

Original budget is the initial approved budget for the budget 
period. 

Terms defined in other ASLBs are used in this Standard with the 
same meaning as in those other Standards.  

Approved Budgets 
8. An approved budget as defined by this Standard reflects the 

anticipated revenues or receipts expected to arise in the annual or 
multi-year budget period, based on current plans and the anticipated 
economic conditions during that budget period, and expenses or 
expenditures approved by the governing body or other relevant 
authority. An approved budget is not a forward estimate or a projection 
based on assumptions about future events and possible management 

                                                           
3 The revised budget defined in this ASLB is the revised budget of the current financial 
year that is presented along with the budget of the next financial year by a Local Body to 
its governing body at the specified date as per the existing applicable law /practice.   
4  At present the concept of multi-year budget is not prevalent in India.  
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actions that are not necessarily expected to take place. Similarly, an 
approved budget differs from prospective financial information, which 
may be in the form of a forecast, a projection, or a combination of 
both; for example, a one-year forecast plus a five-year projection.  

9. The critical feature of approved budgets is that the authority to 
withdraw funds for agreed and identified purposes is provided by the 
governing body. The approved budget establishes the expenditure 
authority for the specified items. The expenditure authority is generally 
considered the legal limit within which an entity must operate. In some 
cases, the approved budget for which the entity will be held 
accountable may be the original budget, and in others cases it may be 
the revised budget. 

10. If a budget is not approved prior to the beginning of the budget period, 
the original budget is the budget that was first approved for application 
in the budget year. 

Original and Revised Budget 
11. The original budget may include residual appropriated amounts 

automatically carried over from prior years by law. In some cases, 
there may be a legal provision that requires the automatic rolling 
forward of appropriations to cover prior year commitments. 
Commitments encompass possible future liabilities based on a current 
contractual agreement. In some cases, they may be referred to as 
obligations or encumbrances, and include outstanding purchase 
orders, work orders and contracts where goods or services have not 
yet been received. 

12. Supplemental appropriations may be necessary where the original 
budget did not adequately envisage expenditure requirements arising 
from, for example, natural disasters. In addition, there may be a 
shortfall in budgeted revenues during the period, and internal transfers 
between budget heads or line items may be necessary to 
accommodate changes in funding priorities during the fiscal period. 
Consequently, the funds allotted to an entity or activity may need to be 
cut back from the amount originally appropriated for the period in order 
to maintain fiscal discipline. The revised budget includes all such 
authorised changes or amendments. 
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Actual Amounts 
13. This Standard uses the term actual or actual amount to describe the 

amounts that result from execution of the budget. In some cases, 
budget out-turn, budget execution, or similar terms may be used with 
the same meaning as actual or actual amount. 

Presentation of a Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts 
14. Subject to the requirements of paragraph 21, an entity should 

present a comparison of the budget amounts for which it is held 
publicly accountable and actual amounts, either as a separate 
additional financial statement or as additional budget columns in 
the financial statements currently presented in accordance with 
ASLBs. The comparison of budget and actual amounts should 
present separately for each level of governing body’s oversight: 
(a) The original and revised budget amounts; 
(b) The actual amounts on a comparable basis; and 

(c) By way of note disclosure, an explanation of material 
differences between the budget for which the entity is held 
publicly accountable and actual amounts. 

15. Presentation  in  the  financial  statements  of  the  original  and  
revised  budget amounts and actual amounts on a comparable basis 
with the budget that is made publicly available will complete the 
accountability cycle by enabling users of the financial statements to 
identify whether resources were obtained and used in accordance with 
the approved budget. Differences between the actual amounts and the 
budget amounts, whether original or revised budget (often referred to 
as the variance in accounting), may also be presented in the financial 
statements for completeness. 

16. An explanation of the material differences between actual amounts 
and the budget amounts will assist users in understanding the reasons 
for material departures from the approved budget for which the entity 
is held publicly accountable. 

17. An  entity  may  be  required,  or  may  elect,  to  make  publicly  
available  its original budget, its revised budget, or both its original and 
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revised budget. In circumstances where both the original and revised 
budget are required to be made publicly available, the regulation, 
governing body or other similar authority will often  provide  guidance  
on  whether  explanation  of  material  differences between the actual 
and the original budget amounts, or actual and the revised budget  
amounts,  is  required  in  accordance  with  paragraph  14(c).  In the 
absence of any such guidance, material differences may be 
determined by reference to, for example, (a) differences between 
actual and original budget to focus on performance against original 
budget, or (b) differences between actual and revised budget to focus 
on compliance with the revised budget. 

18. In some cases, the revised budget and the actual amount may be the 
same. This is because budget execution is monitored over the 
reporting period, and the original budget progressively revised to 
reflect changing conditions, changing circumstances, and experiences 
during the reporting period. Paragraph 29 of this Standard requires the 
disclosure of an explanation of the reasons for changes between the 
original and revised budget. Those disclosures, together with the 
disclosures required by paragraph 14 above, will ensure that entities 
that make publicly available their approved budget(s) are held publicly 
accountable for their performance against, and compliance with, the 
relevant approved budget. 

19. Management discussion and analysis, operations review, or other 
public reports that provide commentary on the performance and 
achievements of the entity during the reporting period, including 
explanations of any material differences from budget amounts, are 
often issued in conjunction with the financial statements. In 
accordance with paragraph 14(c) of this Standard, explanation of 
material differences between actual and budget amounts will be 
included in notes to the financial statements. 

20. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

Presentation and Disclosure 
21. An entity should present a comparison of budget and actual 

amounts as additional budget columns in the primary financial 
statements only where the financial statements and the budget 
are prepared on a comparable basis. 
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22. Comparisons of budget and actual amounts may be presented in a 
separate financial statement, (Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts or a similarly titled statement) included in the 
complete set of financial statements  as  specified  in  ASLB 1.  
Alternatively, where the financial statements and the budget are 
prepared on a comparable basis – that is, on the same basis of 
accounting for the same entity and same reporting period, and adopt 
the same classification structure – additional columns may be added to 
the existing primary financial statements presented in accordance with 
ASLBs. These additional columns will identify original and revised 
budget amounts and, if the entity so chooses, differences between the 
budget and actual amounts. 

23. When the budget and financial statements are not prepared on a 
comparable basis, a separate Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts is presented. In these cases, to ensure that readers 
do not misinterpret financial information that is prepared on different 
bases, the financial statements could usefully clarify that the budget 
and the accounting bases differ, and that the Statement of Comparison 
of Budget and Actual Amounts is prepared on the budget basis. 

24. In some cases where budgets are prepared on the accrual basis and 
encompass the full set of financial statements, additional budget 
columns can be added to all the primary financial statements required 
by ASLBs. However, in some cases, budgets prepared on the accrual 
basis may be presented in the form of only certain of the primary 
financial statements that comprise the full set of financial statements 
as specified by ASLBs – for example, the budget may be presented as 
an income and expenditure statement or a cash flow statement, with 
additional information provided in supporting schedules. In these 
cases, the additional budget columns can be included in the primary 
financial statements that are also adopted for presentation of the 
budget. 

Level of Aggregation 
25. Budget documents may provide great detail about particular activities, 

programmes, or entities. These details are often aggregated into broad 
classes under common budget heads, budget classifications, or 
budget headings for presentation to, and approval by, the governing 
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body or other similar authority. The disclosure of budget and actual 
information consistent with those broad classes and budget heads or 
headings will ensure that comparisons are made at the level of 
governing body’s or other similar authority’s oversight identified in the 
budget documents. 

26. ASLB 3, ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors’ requires financial statements to provide information that meets 
a number of qualitative characteristics, including that the information 
is: 

(a) Relevant to the decision-making needs of users; and 

(b) Reliable in that the financial statements: 

(i) Represent faithfully the financial position, financial 
performance, and cash flows of the entity; 

(ii) Reflect the economic substance of transactions, other 
events, and conditions, and not merely the legal form; 

(iii) Are neutral, that is, free from bias;  

(iv) Are prudent; and 

(v) Are complete in all material respects. 

27. In some cases, the detailed financial information included in approved 
budgets may need to be aggregated for presentation in financial 
statements in accordance with the requirements of this Standard. Such 
aggregation may be necessary to avoid information overload and to 
reflect relevant levels of governing body’s or other similar authority’s 
oversight. Determining the level of aggregation will involve 
professional judgment. That judgment will be applied in the context of 
the objective of this Standard and the qualitative characteristics of 
financial reporting as outlined in paragraph 26 above and in ‘The 
Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting in 
Local Bodies’5. 

28. Additional budget information, including information about service level 
benchmarks, may be presented in documents other than financial 

                                                           
5  ‘The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting in Local Bodies’ 
is under formulation. 
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statements. A cross reference from financial statements to such 
documents is encouraged, particularly to link budget and actual data to 
non-financial budget data and service level benchmarks. 

Changes from Original to Revised Budget 
29. An entity should present an explanation of whether changes 

between the original and revised budget are a consequence of 
reallocations within the budget, or of other factors by way of note 
disclosure in the financial statements.   

30. The revised budget includes all changes approved by the governing 
body or other designated authority to revise the original budget. 
Consistent with the requirements of this Standard, an entity will include 
in the notes to the financial statements, an explanation of changes 
between the original and revised budget. That explanation will include 
whether, for example, changes arise as a consequence of 
reallocations within the original budget parameters or as a 
consequence of other factors, such as changes in the overall budget 
parameters, including changes in government policy. 

Comparable Basis 
31. All comparisons of budget and actual amounts should be 

presented on a comparable basis to the budget. 

32. The comparison of budget and actual amounts will be presented on 
the same accounting basis (accrual, cash, or other basis), same 
classification basis, and for the same entities and period as for the 
approved budget. This will ensure that the disclosure of information 
about compliance with the budget in the financial statements is on the 
same basis as the budget itself. In some cases, this may mean 
presenting a budget and actual comparison on a different basis of 
accounting, for a different group of activities, and with a different 
presentation or classification format than that adopted for the financial 
statements. 

33. Financial statements consolidate entities and activities controlled by 
the entity. As noted in paragraph 5, separate budgets may be 
approved and made publicly available for individual entities or 
particular activities that make up the consolidated financial statements. 
Where this occurs, the separate budgets may be recompiled for 
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presentation in the financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of this Standard. Where such recompilation occurs, it will 
not involve changes or revisions to approved budgets. This is because 
this Standard requires a comparison of actual amounts with the 
approved budget amounts. 

34. Entities may adopt different bases of accounting for the preparation of 
their financial statements and for their approved budgets. For 
example, a Local Body may adopt the accrual basis for its financial 
statements and the cash basis for its budget. In addition, budgets may 
focus on, or include information about, commitments to expend funds 
in the future and changes in those  commitments,  while  the  financial  
statements  will  report  assets, liabilities, net assets/equity, revenues, 
expenses, other changes in net assets/equity, and cash flows. 
However, the budget entity and financial reporting entity will often be 
the same. Similarly, the period for which the budget is prepared and 
the classification basis adopted for the budget will often be reflected in 
financial statements. This will ensure that the accounting system 
records and reports financial information in a manner that facilitates 
the comparison of budget and actual data for management and for 
accountability purposes. For example, for monitoring progress of 
execution of the budget during the budget period and for reporting to 
the Government, the public, and other users on a relevant and timely 
basis. 

35. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

36. [Refer to Appendix 1]  

Multi-year Budgets 
37. Some Local Bodies approve and make publicly available multi-year 

budgets, rather than separate annual budgets. Conventionally, multi-
year budgets comprise a series of annual budgets or annual budget 
targets. The approved budget for each component annual period 
reflects the application of the budgetary policies associated with the 
multi-year budget for that component period. In some cases, the multi-
year budget provides for a roll forward of unused appropriations in any 
single year. 
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38. Entities with multi-year budgets may take different approaches to 
determining their original and revised budget, depending on how their 
budget is passed. For example, a Local Body may pass a biennial 
budget that contains two approved annual budgets, in which case an 
original and revised approved budget for each annual period will be 
identifiable. If unused appropriations from the first year of the biennial 
budget are legally authorised to be spent in the second year, the 
original budget for the second-year period will be increased for these 
carry over amounts. In the rare cases in which a Local Body passes a 
biennial or other multi-period budget that does not specifically 
separate budget amounts into each annual period, judgment may be 
necessary in identifying which amounts are attributable to each annual 
period in determining annual budgets for the purposes of this 
Standard. For example, the original and revised approved budget for 
the first year of a biennial period will encompass any approved capital 
acquisitions for the biennial period that occurred during the first year, 
together with the amount of the recurring revenue and expenditure 
items attributable to that year. The unexpended amounts from the first 
annual period would then be included in the original budget for the 
second annual period, and that budget together with any amendments 
thereto would form the revised budget for the second year. Where 
multi-period budgets are adopted, entities are encouraged to provide 
additional note disclosure about the relationship between budget and 
actual amounts during the budget period. 

Note Disclosures of Budgetary Basis, Period and 
Scope 
39. An entity should explain in notes to the financial statements the 

budgetary basis and classification basis adopted in the approved 
budget. 

40. There may be differences between the accounting basis (cash, 
accrual, or some modification thereof) used in preparation and 
presentation of the budget and the accounting basis used in the 
financial statements. These differences may occur when the 
accounting system and the budget system compile information from 
different perspectives – the budget may focus on cash flows, or cash 
flows plus certain commitments, while the financial statements report 
cash flows and accrual information. 
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41. Formats and classification schemes adopted for presentation of the 
approved budget may also differ from the formats adopted for the 
financial statements. An approved budget may classify items on the 
same basis as is adopted in the financial statements, for example, by 
economic nature (compensation of employees, use of goods or 
services, etc.), or function (health, education, etc.). Alternatively, the 
budget may classify items by specific programmes (for example, 
poverty reduction or control of contagious diseases) or programme 
components linked to performance outcome objectives (for example, 
students completing training under nursing programme or surgical 
operations performed by hospital emergency services), which differ 
from classifications adopted in the financial statements. Further, a 
recurrent budget for ongoing operations (for example, education or 
health) may be approved separately from a capital budget for capital 
outlays (for example, infrastructure or buildings). 

42. ASLB 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, requires entities to 
present, in notes to the financial statements, information about the 
basis of preparation of the financial statements and the significant 
accounting policies adopted. Disclosure of the budgetary basis and 
classification basis adopted for the preparation and presentation of 
approved budgets will assist users to better understand the 
relationship between the budget and accounting information disclosed 
in the financial statements. 

43. An entity should disclose in notes to the financial statements the 
period of the approved budget. 

44. Financial statements are presented at least annually. Entities may 
approve budgets for an annual period or for multi-year periods. 
Disclosure of the period covered by the approved budget, where that 
period differs from the reporting period adopted for the financial 
statements, will assist the users of those financial statements to better 
understand the relationship of the budget data and budget comparison 
to the financial statements. 

45. An entity should identify in notes to the financial statements the 
entities included in the approved budget. 

46. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
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Reconciliation of Actual Amounts on a 
Comparable Basis and Actual Amounts in the 
Financial Statements 
47. The actual amounts presented on  a  comparable  basis  to  the 

budget  in accordance with paragraph 31 should, where the 
financial statements and the budget are not prepared on a 
comparable basis, be reconciled to the following actual amounts 
presented in the financial statements, identifying separately any 
basis, timing, and entity differences: 

(a) If the accrual basis is adopted for the budget, total 
revenues, total expenses, and net cash flows from 
operating activities, investing activities, and financing 
activities; or 

(b) If a basis other than the accrual basis is adopted for the 
budget, net cash flows from operating activities, investing 
activities, and financing activities. 

 The reconciliation should be disclosed on the face of the 
statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts, or in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

48. Differences between the actual amounts identified consistent with the 
comparable basis, and the actual amounts recognised in the financial 
statements, can usefully be classified into the following: 

(a) Basis differences, which occur when the approved budget is 
prepared on a basis other than the accounting basis. For 
example, where the budget is prepared on the cash basis or 
modified cash basis and the financial statements are prepared 
on the accrual basis; 

(b) Timing differences, which occur when the budget period differs 
from the reporting period reflected in the financial statements; 
and 

(c) Entity  differences,  which  occur  when  the  budget  omits  
programmes  or entities that are part of the entity for which the 
financial statements are prepared.  
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 There may also be differences in formats and classification schemes 
adopted for presentation of financial statements and the budget. 

49. The reconciliation required by paragraph 47 of this Standard will 
enable the entity to better discharge its accountability obligations, by 
identifying major sources of difference between the actual amounts on 
a budget basis and the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. This Standard does not preclude reconciliation of each 
major total and subtotal, or each class of items,  presented  in  a  
comparison  of  budget  and  actual amounts with  the equivalent 
amounts in the financial statements. 

50. For some entities adopting the same basis of accounting for 
preparation of both the budget documents and the financial 
statements, only the identification of differences between actual 
amounts in the budget and the equivalent amounts in the financial 
statements will be required. This will occur where the budget (a) is 
prepared for the same period, (b) encompasses the same entities, and 
(c) adopts the same presentation format as the financial statements. In 
these cases, a reconciliation is not required. For other entities 
adopting the same basis of accounting for the budget and the financial 
statements, there may be a difference in presentation format, reporting 
entity, or reporting period; for example, the approved budget may 
adopt a different classification or presentation format to the financial 
statements, may include only non-commercial activities of the entity, or 
may be a multi-year budget. A reconciliation would be necessary 
where there are presentation, timing, or entity differences between the 
budget and the financial statements prepared on the same accounting 
basis. 

51. For those entities using the cash basis (or a modified cash or modified 
accrual basis) of accounting for the presentation of the approved 
budget and the accrual basis for their financial statements, the major 
totals presented in the statement of budget and actual comparison will 
be reconciled to net cash flows from operating activities, net cash 
flows from investing activities, and net  cash  flows  from  financing  
activities  as  presented  in  the  cash  flow statement prepared in 
accordance with ASLB 2, ‘Cash Flow Statements’. 

52. The disclosure of budget related comparative information in 
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respect of the previous period in accordance with the 
requirements of this Standard is not required. 

53. This Standard requires a comparison of budget and actual amounts to 
be included in the financial statements of entities that make publicly 
available their approved budget(s). It does not require the disclosure of 
a comparison of actuals of the previous period with the budget of that 
previous period, nor does it require that the related explanations of 
differences between the actuals and budget of that previous period be 
disclosed in the financial statements of the current period. 

54. [Refer to Appendix 1] 

55. [Refer to Appendix 1] 
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Illustrative Examples 
These examples accompany, but are not part of, ASLB 24, ‘Presentation of 
Budget Information in Financial Statements’. 

Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts 
For Local Body XX for the Year Ended March 31, 20XX  

Budget on Cash Basis 

(Classification of Payments by Functions) 

Note: The budget and the accounting basis is different. This Statement of 
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts is prepared on the budget basis. 

(In `) 

Actual 
20XX- 

XX 
 

Particulars 
(1) 

Original 
Budget 

(2) 

Revised 
Budget 

(3) 

Actual 
Amounts 

on 
Comparable 

Basis 
(4) 

*Difference: 
Revised 

Budget and 
Actual 

(5) = (3) – 
(4) 

 
X 
 
X 
X 
X 
 
X 
X 

RECEIPTS 
Taxation 
Aid Agreements     
International agencies      
Other Grants and Aid 
Proceeds: Borrowing 
Proceeds: Disposal of 
Plant & Equipment 
Trading Activities 
Other receipts 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
X 
X 
 

X 
X 

X Total Receipts X X X X 
 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
 

PAYMENTS 
Health  
Education 
Public order/safety  
Social protection  
Housing and community 
amenities 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 
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(X) 
 
(X) 
(X) 

Recreational, cultural and 
religion 
Economic affairs 
Others 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 

 (X) Total Payments (X) (X) (X) (X) 
X NET RECEIPTS/ 

(PAYMENTS) 
X X X X 

* The “Difference…” column is not required. However, a comparison between 
actual and the original or the revised budget, clearly identified as 
appropriate, may be included. 

Additional Column Approach 
For Local Body YY for the Year Ended March 31, 20XX  

Both Annual Budget and Financial Statements Adopt Accrual Basis  
(Illustrated only for Income and Expenditure Statement. Similar 
presentation would be adopted for other financial statements.) 

(In `) 
Actual 
20XX- 

XX 
(1) 

Particulars 
(2) 

Actual 
20XX 

(3) 

Revised 
Budget 
20XX 

(4) 

Original 
Budget 
20XX 

(5) 

*Difference: 
Original 

Budget and 
Actual 

(6) = (5) - (3) 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

Revenue 
Taxes 
Fees, fines, penalties, and 
licenses 
Revenue from exchange 
transactions 
Transfers from other 
governments 
Other revenue 

 
X 
X 
 

X  
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
X 
 

X  
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
X 
 

X 
 

X 
 

X 
X Total revenue X X X X 

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

Expenses 
Wages, salaries, employee 
benefits  
Grants and other transfer 
payments  
Supplies and consumables 
used  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X)  

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 
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(X)  
 

(X) 
(X) 

Depreciation/amortisation 
expense  
Other expenses 
Finance costs 

(X)  
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X)  
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X)  
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X) 
 

(X) 
(X) 

(X) Total expenses (X) (X) (X) (X) 
X Share of surplus of associates X X X X 
X Surplus/(deficit) for the 

period 
X X X X 

 
X  
X 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the controlling entity 
Minority interest 

 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 

 
X 
X 

X  X X X X 
*The “Difference…” column is not required. However, a comparison between 
actual and the original or the revised budget, clearly identified as 
appropriate, may be included. 

Extract of Note Disclosures—for Local Body X 
(Local Body X presents its approved budget on a cash basis and the financial 
statements on the accrual basis.) 
1. The budget is approved on a cash basis by functional classification. 

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from April 1, 20XX to 
March 31, 20XX, and includes all entities within the Local Body. 
(Prepared in accordance with ASLB XX, ‘Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements’) 

2. The  original  budget  was  approved  by governing body  on  (date),  
and  a supplemental appropriation of XXX for disaster relief support 
was approved by governing body on (date) due to the earthquake in 
the Northern Region on (date). The original budget objectives and 
policies and subsequent revisions are explained more fully in the 
Operational Review and Budget Outcomes reports issued in 
conjunction with the financial statements. 

3. The excess of actual expenditure over the revised budget of XX% 
(XX% over original budget) for the Health function was due to 
expenditures above the level approved by governing body in response 
to the earthquake. There were no other material differences between 
the final approved budget and the actual amounts. 

4. The budget and the accounting bases differ. The financial statements 
are prepared on the accrual basis, using a classification based on the 
nature of expenses in the income and expenditure statement. The 
financial statements are consolidated statements that include all 
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controlled entities for the fiscal period from April 1, 20XX to March 31, 
20XX. The financial statements differ from the budget which is 
approved on the cash basis. 

5. The amounts in the financial statements were re-cast from the accrual 
basis to the cash basis, and reclassified by functional classification to 
be on the same basis as the final approved budget. In addition, 
adjustments to amounts in the financial statements for timing 
differences associated with the continuing appropriation were made to 
express the actual amounts on a comparable basis to the final 
approved budget. The amount of these adjustments are identified in 
the following table. 

6. A  reconciliation  between  the  actual  amounts  on  a  comparable  
basis  as presented in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and 
Actual Amounts and the actual amounts in the Statement of Cash 
Flows for the Year Ended March 31, 20XX is presented below. The 
financial statements and budget documents are prepared for the same 
period. There is an entity difference: the budget is prepared for the 
Local Body and the financial statements consolidate all controlled 
entities. 

There is also a basis difference: the budget is prepared on a cash basis and 
the financial statements on the accrual basis. 

(In `) 

 Operating Financing Investing Total 
Actual Amount on 
Comparable Basis as 
Presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative 
Statement 

X X X X 

Basis Differences X X X X 
Timing Differences - - - - 
Entity Differences X X X X 
Actual Amount in the 
Statement of Cash Flows 

X X X X 

(This reconciliation could be included on the face of the Statement of 
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts or as a note disclosure.) 
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Encouraged Note Disclosure: Biennial Budget on Cash Basis— For 
Local Body A for the Year Ended March 31, 20XX 

Particulars  Original 
Biennial 
Budget 

Year 

Target 
Budget 
for 1st 

 

Year 

Revised 
Budget 

in 1st 
 

Year 

1st Year 
Actual on 

Comparable 
Basis 

Balance 
Available 

for 2nd 
 

Year 

Target 
Budget 
for 2nd

  

Year 

Revised 
Budget 
in 2nd

  

Year 

2nd
   

Year 
Actual on 

Comparable 
Basis 

*Difference: 
Budget and 
Actual over 

Budget 
Period 

1 2 3 4 5 6=2-4 7=2-3 8 9 10 
RECEIPTS 
Taxation  
Aid 
Agreements 
Proceeds: 
Borrowing 
Proceeds: 
Disposal of 
plant and 
equipment 
Trading 
Activities 
Other receipts 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

X 
 
 
 

X 
 

X 
Total 
Receipts X X X X X X X X X 

PAYMENTS 
Health 
Education 
Public order 
and safety 
Social 
protection 
Housing, 
community 
amenities 
Recreational, 
cultural, 
religion 
Economic 
affairs 
Other 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 

 
(X) 
(X) 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
(X) 

 
 

(X) 
 
 

(X) 
 

(X) 
Total 
Payments 

(X) (X) (X) (X) (X) (X) (X) (X) (X) 

NET 
RECEIPTS/ 
(PAYMENTS) 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

*This column is not required. However, a comparison between actual and the original or the revised 
budget, clearly identified as appropriate, may be included. 
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Appendix 1 
Note: This Appendix is not a part of the Accounting Standard for Local 
Bodies. The purpose of this Appendix is only to bring out the major 
differences, if any, between Accounting Standard for Local Bodies (ASLB) 24 
and the corresponding International Public Sector Accounting Standard 
(IPSAS) 24, ‘Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements’. 

Comparison with IPSAS 24, ‘Presentation of Budget 
Information in Financial Statements’ 
1. Different terminologies have been used in ASLB 24 as compared to 

corresponding IPSAS 24, e.g., terms ‘balance sheet’, ‘income and 
expenditure statement’, ‘governing body’, ‘revised budget’ and ‘service 
level benchmarks’ have been used in place of ‘statement of financial 
position’, ‘statement of financial performance’, ‘legislative body’, ‘final 
budget’ and ‘service achievements’. 

2. Some definitions additional to that in IPSAS 24 have been provided in 
ASLB 24 and definition of ‘accounting basis’ given in IPSAS 24 has 
been deleted in ASLB 24. 

3. Paragraph 4 of IPSAS 24 which provides that Government Business 
Enterprises (GBEs) should use IFRSs, has been deleted, as it is not 
relevant for Local Bodies in India. 

4. Paragraphs 35 - 36 of IPSAS 24 relating to preparation of the budgets 
in accordance with or in consistent with statistical reporting system 
have been deleted as the same does not seem relevant for Local 
Bodies in India.  

5. Some examples provided in IPSAS 24 have been modified in ASLB 24 
to better address the circumstances of the Local Bodies. 

6. In line with corresponding IPSAS 24, ASLB 24 requires an explanation 
of material differences between the budget for which the entity is held 
publicly accountable and the actual amounts. However, if such 
explanation is provided in any other public document, then cross 
referencing of that document is not permitted in ASLB 24 which is 
permitted in IPSAS 24. 
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7. Paragraphs pertaining to effective date have been deleted as ASLB 24 
would become mandatory for the Local Bodies in a State from the date 
specified by the State Government concerned. 

8. Other consequential changes in ASLB 24 have also been made due to 
all above changes. However, paragraph numbers have been retained 
to maintain consistency with the corresponding IPSAS. 
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